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financial ratios 
(usd millions)

2012 2011 2010 2009 2008

income statement
net sales 399 398 359 331 347

gross profit 248 246 223 202 214

Operating expenses (exl. Other income)  191 189 164 154 168

profit from operations 57 59 60 48 56

net profit 38 34 35 23 28

Ebitda 70 73 74 67 79

balance sheet
total assets 591 580 607 628 604

Equity 408 365 344 312 250

net interest-bearing debt (nibd) 82 111 133 158 234

cash flow
Cash generated by operations 71 68 64 86 71

Cash provided by operating activities 58 48 40 69 53

free cash flow 43 32 33 60 46

Key figures

sales growth usd % 0 11 9 -5 4

Operating margin % 14 15 17 15 16

Ebitda margin % 18 18 21 20 23

Equity ratio % 69 63 57 50 41

ratio of net debt to Ebitda  1.2 1.5 1.8 2.4 2.9

ratio of debt to Ebitda  1.5 1.8 2.5 3.5 3.3

Current ratio 1.9 1.7 1.9 2.3 1.1

return on equity  % 10 10 10 8 11

marKet
market value of equity 606 676 778 529 349

number of shares 454 454 454 454 423

price/earnings ratio, (p/E)   15.8 20 22 23 12

diluted Eps us Cent 8.4 8 8 5 7

diluted Cash Eps us Cent 11.3 11 11 10 12



redefining ability

this has been an amazing year filled with people, events 

and technological breakthroughs that have lifted our 

hearts. we look back on 2012 with gratitude and look 

forward with excitement. Our business is well diversified 

across the us and Europe with a growing presence in asia. 

the market conditions in the us have been challenging 

but the performance in EmEa and asia has been good. 

today, we have a strong market position and a healthy 

operation that will continue to generate value for our 

customers making life without limitations a reality for 

more people than ever before.

following dreams
we were and still are inspired by the paralympic games, 

held in london this past september. the games were 

an historic occasion that has helped to transform 

perceptions of the term disability in a way that goes 

far beyond sport. flying past the cameras, the össur 

running feet appeared on nearly two thirds of all of all 

paralympic amputee finalists.

the athletes competing in the paralympics games 

inspire us all to follow our dreams and do the things 

we are passionate about. for össur, this entire year has 

been about our passion of “redefining ability,”

the experts at nike have worked in co-operation with 

össur and the amazing athelete, sarah reinertsen. 

this collaboration produced a unique sole for össur’s 

prosthetic running blades, offering specialized traction

for sports people everywhere.

Jón sigurðssOn
össur prEsidEnt and CEO

flex-run™  
with niKe sole

lOndOn 2012 paralympiC gamEs

2annual report 12



move naturally
we are honored that popular science has recognized the 

significance of the symbiOniC lEg. it is the world's 

first complete bionic leg and our most advanced product 

to date. more importantly, feedback from users has been 

very positive as the symbiOniC lEg enables them to 

move more naturally than ever before. it produces a 

motion so natural, safe and symmetrical that it’s helping 

to unleash a new level of user confidence.

a clinical study performed in the u.s. by the steadman 

philippon research institute demonstrated the positive 

results for the function of össur’s osteoarthritis knee 

brace: unloader One. the study revealed that users of 

the knee brace felt reduced pain and increased function. 

the results of the study, in addition to other studies 

performed on the knee brace, confirm unloader One 

is a very viable alternative treatment option for patients  

with osteoarthritis.

This has been an amazing year f illed with people, events and 
technological breakthroughs that have lifted our hearts.

passion for innovation 
we are lucky to meet and collaborate regularly with 

exceptional people from all walks of life. i'm truly 

humbled by the wonderful relationships we have with 

our users. we were delighted earlier in 2012 to be named 

among the world’s “most innovative Companies” 

by fast Company magazine. i would like to take this 

opportunity to thank everyone who helps fuel our 

passion for innovation – we couldn’t do it without you 

and there is a lot more to come!

named among the world’s  
“most innovative companies”  
by fast company magazine

symbionic® leg named  
“best of what’s new” by 
popular science magazine

unloader one® reduces 
pain, increases function 
and life quality for Knee 
osteoarthritis patients

Jón Sigurðsson
Össur President and CEO
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corporate strategy

visiOn
lEading COmpany in nOn-invasivE OrthOpaEdiCs

missiOn
wE imprOvE pEOplE's mObility

össur’s visiOn is tO bE thE lEadEr in thE nOn-invasivE OrthOpaEdiCs markEt. össur’s businEss fOCusEs On imprOving 

pEOplE’s mObility thrOugh thE dElivEry Of innOvativE tEChnOlOgiEs within thE fiElds Of braCing and suppOrts, 

prOsthEtiCs and COmprEssiOn thErapy. össur will COntinuE tO fOCus On suCCEssful innOvatiOns, sustainablE 

grOwth and EffiCiEnCy tO gEnEratE valuE fOr CustOmErs, sharEhOldErs and EmplOyEEs.

innOvatiOn

we embrace innovation in all our 
actions. we will be at the forefront of 
indication-related innovation to ensure our 
consistently strong position in the market.

EffiCiEnCy

we strive to increase efficiency and 
drive continuous improvements in our 
operations. we run efficient operations in 
optimal locations, hire passionate employees 
and deliver strong profit and cash flow.

grOwth

we will achieve growth by successfully 
commercializing our innovation through 
our localized go-to-market strategy and 
commitment to our customers’ needs.

main fOCus arEas
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valuEs
thE COmpany’s COrE valuEs EnsurE suCCEssful 

COOpEratiOn and partnErships, and arE thE 

fOundatiOn fOr Our stratEgy and suCCEss.

hOnEsty
we show respect by adhering to facts and reality, fulfilling 
promises and claims, and admitting failures. we nurture honest 
communication throughout the Company by sharing information 
and respecting each other’s time and workload.

frugality
we use resources wisely. the Company aims to minimize costs 
across all areas of its business through effective communication, 
preparedness, planning and optimized processes.

COuragE
we are open to change and constantly strive for improvement. we 
challenge unwritten rules, show initiative and take calculated risks, 
while at the same time, take responsibility for our ideas, decisions 
and actions.
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össur is a global leader in the non-invasive orthopaedics 

market. the Company focuses on improving people’s 

mobility. össur delivers advanced and innovative 

solutions within the fields of bracing and supports, 

prosthetics and compression therapy.

össur is known as a technical leader in the field of 

prosthetics and is one of the leading companies in bracing 

and supports. the compression therapy products are only 

sold in france.

the Company was founded in 1971 as a prosthetic 

clinic and has since then grown through innovation and 

acquisitions in both prosthetics and bracing and supports. 

about Össur

today össur has a strong position in the industry and in 

key markets and is in a good position to leverage on future 

growth opportunities.

össur has been a listed company since 1999 and on 

nasdaq Omx Copenhagen in since 2009. the Company 

has operations in 13 countries and 1850 employees.

össur is headquartered in reykjavik, iceland. the 

Company’s sales are well diversified by segments and 

geography. sales in 2012 amounted to usd 399 million 

and were split as follows:

52% americas 52% bracing and supports

43% EmEa  43% prosthetics

5% asia 5% Compression therapy

company milestones

Össur’s three business segments 

bracing and supports

bracing and supports products are used primarily 

to support joints and other body parts, both for 

therapeutic and preventive purposes.

prosthetics

prosthetic products include artificial limbs and related 

products for individuals who were born without limbs or 

have had limbs amputated.

compression therapy

Compression therapy is a preferred treatment for 

venous ulcers and edema.

received its first 
patent for the 
silicone liner

1986

listed on 
nasdaq Omx 

in iceland

1999

becomes the 
second largest 

prosthetics 
manufacturer 
through series 

of strategic 
acquisitions

2000

rhEO knEE® 

the first bionic 
product launched

2004

Entrance into 
the bracing 

and supports 
segment through 
series of strategic 

acquisitions

2005/6

listed on 
nasdaq Omx 
in Copenhagen

2009

symbiOniC® lEg
the world’s first 

complete bionic leg

2012

össur was 
founded by  

össur kristinsson

1971
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Össur is a global leader in 
non-invasive orthopaedics, 
focusing on improving 
people’s mobility.
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people

culture
össur values are the foundation of the human resources 

strategy.  the three core values, honesty, frugality and 

courage, set the stage on how our employees work, 

interact, behave and make decisions. the performance 

of each employee is evaluated based on these values. in 

addition employees are asked for feedback in a bi-annual 

workplace audit on whether they feel that the Company 

is living by the values.

the biggest challenge human resources management 

faces in any global company is to maintain the culture 

of initiative, ambition, drive and cooperation while 

growing and being more spread around the world. össur 

managers are well aware of that challenge and nurture 

such culture in their teams’ daily activities.

worK environment
for a company that is in the forefront of its business it 

is important to create and maintain a work environment 

which not only retains the employees but also motivates 

them to achieve the Company’s objectives.

in today’s society people are looking for opportunities 

to grow within their workplace, autonomy is of high 

importance, people want to believe they are trusted to 

find the right way to achieve the goals. Offering flexible 

hours for people to be able to take care of family matters 

within usual working hours is highly appreciated by our 

employees.

össur understands the importance of having a diverse 

workforce and is committed to create an environment 

where both genders can become successful in their 

jobs.  focus in 2013 is on gender equality. to do that an 

Equality policy is being developed as well as a women 

and leadership program. in addition, audit on equal pay 

will be conducted annually.

worKplace audit
össur’s workplace audit continues to be positive and 

confirms that employees are motivated and excited 

to work for össur. össur scored 4.2 out of 5 in  

employee satisfaction.

47%
53%

Female

Male

8%

46%

46%

University 
Degree
Vocational or 
Technical Training  
Other  

gender ratio

education
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locations

tOtal salEs wErE  
usd 399 milliOn  
in 2012

americas

52%
salEs aCCOuntEd fOr

emea

43%
salEs aCCOuntEd fOr

asia

5%
salEs aCCOuntEd fOr

10annual report 12



össur has offices and extensive operations in the 

americas, Europe and asia. in the past decade, the 

Company has transformed itself into a global leader 

in non-invasive orthopaedics, with operations in 13 

countries and sales that are well diversified in terms of 

segments and geographical spread.

Össur head office
össur’s headquarters are located in reykjavik, iceland. 

Operations in iceland encompass manufacturing, 

global research and development, corporate finance, 

global marketing, and sales and marketing for the  

domestic market. 

Össur americas
össur americas is responsible for sales and marketing 

in the us, latin america and Canada. since 2000, the 

main sales office in the us has been located in Orange 

County, California. distribution centers are located 

in paulsboro, new Jersey and Camarillo, California. 

the Canadian sales office is in richmond, Canada. 

manufacturing facilities are in albion, michigan and 

tijuana, mexico.

Össur europe (emea)
össur Europe (EmEa) provides sales, marketing 

and other services in Europe, the middle East and 

africa. since 2000, össur’s main European office is in 

Eindhoven, the netherlands. Other European offices are 

located in blackburn and manchester, England; uppsala, 

sweden; st. Etienne and trévoux, france; frechen, 

germany; budrio, italy and madrid, spain. in addition to 

the European offices, the Company has an office in Cape 

town, south africa.

Össur asia
the össur asia division serves diverse countries from 

pakistan to new Zealand with the key markets being 

Japan, australia, China, korea and india. the main 

office is located in shanghai, China. Other offices are 

located in hui yang and hong kong, China; seoul, 

korea; sydney, australia and tokyo, Japan. sales in 

asia are handled through direct sales and through a 

comprehensive network of distribution partners.
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marKets

össur operates within the global orthopaedic 

industry, delivering advanced and innovative solutions 

within the bracing and supports, prosthetics and  

compression therapy market.

industry dynamics
the aging population, changed lifestyle, technological 

developments and the regulatory environment are 

fundamental drivers of change in the orthopaedic industry.

aging population
the increasing number of the total global population aged 

65 and older will underpin market growth. an aging society 

brings an increase in the frequency of vascular diseases and 

diabetes. an aging population also means an increased 

amount of fractures, joint instability and joint afflictions 

such as osteoarthritis, which increases the demand for 

different forms of bracing and supports products.

lifestyle
Obesity, which can result in diabetes and vascular 

diseases, is reaching epidemic proportions. since 

diabetes and vascular diseases are the main causes 

of amputation, as the number of people afflicted by 

these diseases increases so should the demand for 

prosthetics. Obesity and an aging population are also the 

main market drivers for osteoarthritis. as participation 

in sports increases, the demand for different types of 

support products should continue to grow, due to the 

increased number of sports-related injuries and an 

increased demand for preventive products.

technological development
new technologies and technological combinations, 

as well as new materials, continuously yield improved 

products. such technological advances lead to total 

market growth as demand is created for more technically 

advanced and expensive solutions.

regulatory environment
healthcare providers are constrained by budgets and 

accordingly the regulatory environment demands cost 

effective solutions without compromising quality. this has 

led to substantial investments in systems demonstrating 

and providing health economical outcomes for potential 

buyers. two vital requirements for any market player in 

the orthopaedics industry are the ability to adapt to a 

changing regulatory environment and tailoring product 

offerings to meet the prevailing regulatory system.

orthopaedic industry staKeholders

end-users prescribers providers payers influencers

staKeholders
in the orthopaedic industry many stakeholders and 

decision makers are involved in the purchasing decision. 

the stakeholders can be categorized into five groups: 

end-users

individuals that use the products.

prescribers

healthcare professionals that prescribe products, based 

on the condition/clinical indication of the user.

providers

healthcare professionals that provide users with 

products, such as CpO's, doctors, podiatrists.

payers

public and private insurance companies. about 98% of 

össur products are reimbursed by third party.

influencers

healthcare systems, insurance companies, medical 

associations, end-users and their families.

12annual report 12



reimbursement
the vast majority of össur’s products are reimbursable 

through various public and private reimbursement 

schemes. reimbursement systems vary substantially 

between countries and product markets. payers 

for össur’s products usually include government 

reimbursement schemes or insurance companies. 

össur applies its reimbursement know-how from the 

earliest stages of product development to the post-sale 

education of customers. the Company pursues several 

strategies to manage and influence the reimbursement 

of össur products and focuses on proving and 

communicating the functional and clinical outcome of 

its products.

external environment 2012
the us prosthetic market faced numerous challenges 

in 2012 due to audits from reimbursements authorities. 

medicare, a national insurance program in us, made 

these audits into payments to O&p providers, focusing 

on documentation in relation to insurance billing for 

prosthetic products. as the main focus of the audits 

has been on both high-end and high activity products, 

demand for these types of products has slowed down. 

this has created uncertainty and operational challenges 

for O&p facilities and delayed service to the end users.

in addition, medicare and its contractors have started to 

ask for a prepayment claims review. hence, the service 

provider will need to seek approval from medicare before 

the service is provided. this means that increasingly 

medicare will audit claims after the product is delivered, 

but before the customer gets paid. this creates cash flow 

problems for smaller clinics. reimbursement scrutiny 

continues to affect the us market in 2013.

while overall pressure on healthcare costs continues, 

key markets in EmEa and asia have generally seen 

growth. increased demand for high-end products in key 

markets in Europe and demand for high quality products 

and health economic outcomes continues.

by mid-year, the pOwEr knEE™ was accepted into the 

reimbursement system in the us, effective as of January 

2013. the allocation of the reimbursement code is a 

very important milestone and confirms the acceptance 

of bionic products as the next generation of prosthetics. 

the reimbursement price has not yet been determined.
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bracing and supports
össur’s bracing and supports products are used 

primarily to support joints and other body parts, both for 

therapeutic and preventative purposes. the bracing and 

supports offering includes: spinal, knee, hip, foot, ankle 

and upper extremities bracing devices. the Company 

offers a comprehensive line of custom made and off-the 

shelf products. 

össur’s management estimates that the size of the 

bracing and supports market within the us, EmEa and 

asia was in the range of usd 2,700 to 3,000 million in 

2012. össur is one of the leading companies in bracing 

and supports market, with the market share in the range 

of 5 - 10%.

marKet drivers

bracing and supports

marKet challenges

aging and more active population 

diabetes, stroke, arthritis, osteoporosis and other pathologies are on the rise 

Efforts to hold back growth in healthcare expenditure 

Easily accessible pain medication

Changes in reimbursement structure 

business segments
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prosthetics
prosthetics are artificial limbs and related products 

for individuals born without limbs or have had limbs 

amputated. össur offers a full range of premium lower 

limb prosthetics, including interfaces, knees and feet.

össur’s management estimates that the size of the 

prosthetic market within the us, EmEa and asia was in 

the range of usd 850 to 950 million in 2012. össur is 

the second largest player in the prosthetics market with 

market share around 20%. 

marKet drivers

prosthetics

marKet challenges

Efforts to hold back growth in healthcare expenditure 

advances in vascular surgery 

Changes in reimbursement

technological developments 

aging population 

increasing instances of obesity, diabetes and vascular diseases 

demand for higher quality of life of amputees

compression therapy
Compression therapy is a treatment for venous ulcers 

and edema. össur’s compression therapy products, 

such as compression socks, thighs and bandages are 

used to apply pressure to the vascular system to improve 

blood circulation and minimize swelling.

össur currently sells compression therapy products in 

france. össur’s market share in the french Eur 260 

million market is around 7%. the compression therapy 

market has enjoyed steady growth in recent years.

marKet drivers

compression therapy

marKet challenges

Efforts to hold back growth in healthcare expenditure

advances in vascular surgery

Compression standards differs between countries

aging population

technically advanced products 

minimal side-effects of non-invasive treatments

stronger emphasis on preventions
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innovation

r&d vision is to make össur the industry leader that 

creates the future through clinically validated innovative 

solutions.

innovation is the profitable implementation of ideas. 

it is a key pillar in össur‘s strategy and the catalyst 

for the Company‘s organic growth. in 2012, the r&d 

expenses amounted to usd 22 million, corresponding 

to 5.5% of total sales.  investments in r&d activities 

enable össur to continually introduce pioneering 

products and solutions that improve people’s mobility 

and life quality for the benefit of users and healthcare 

systems. at the same time, continuous focus on product 

improvements and product rationalization improves 

össur‘s profitability. all internal r&d investments are 

expensed as incurred.

össur r&d operates departments in reykjavík, iceland; 

foothill ranch, Ca usa and saint-Etienne, france.

r&d department secured steady pipeline of products 

during 2012, with 29 product launches: 13 in prosthetics, 

13 in bracing and supports and 3 in compression 

therapy.

in order to secure continuous organic growth and 

profitability, r&d focus is on providing strong and 

steady product pipeline, innovating within current 

product groups, by, among other, exploring the 

feasibility of breakthrough technologies, strategically 

growing ip portfolio and creating strategic technology 

alliances.

technology
Over the years, össur has developed core competencies 

that have brought the Company to the forefront 

of innovation in non-invasive orthopaedics. these 

competencies are organized around seven technical 

platforms: biomechanics, composites, injection 

molding, mechanics, mechatronics, silicone and textile. 

Expertise acquired in product development in one 

platform may be easily applied to various product lines. 

inevitably, technical platforms are at a different life-cycle 

stage, ranging from proprietary to generic. most of 

össur‘s technical platforms are at proprietary stage. the 

focus of long-term strategy is to manage the platforms’ 

lifecycles and maintain their proprietary value. at the 

same time, össur is always on the outlook for emerging 

technologies, evaluating their fit into overall strategies.

intellectual property
össur ip strategy is to actively protect its intellectual 

property rights generated through in-house innovation, 

acquisitions and licenses. in intellectual property 

management, the main objective is to align the 

Company’s intellectual property portfolio with össur’s 

overall business objectives. össur’s ip portfolio is 

diversified and representative of the areas of expertise in 

which the Company focuses its r&d efforts.

össur filed its first patent application in 1986. since 

then, the portfolio has grown steadily. the average life 

of issued patents in össur’s ip portfolio is ten years, and 

new patent applications are consistently filed in order to 

maintain the Company’s competitive advantage.

at the end of 2012, össur’s worldwide ip portfolio 

consisted of 869 granted patents and designs, and 375 

patent and design applications.

a substantial part of össur’s iprs are trademarks, which 

are registered in selected markets, such as the us, the 

European Community, China and Japan. at the end of 

2012, össur’s trademark portfolio consisted of 486 

registered trademarks and 38 pending registrations.

r&d kEy faCts 2012

product launches 29

patents granted worldwide 115

clinical studies initiated 13

scientific papers submitted 15

16annual report 12



example of clinical pathway for 
lower extremity indications

compression therapy,
soft goods, simple braces

walKers, Knee supports prosthetics, oa braces

limited support needed support for longer periods permanent need of support

indication based innovation approach
össur’s indication based innovation approach refers 

to the Company’s increased efforts to medically and 

clinically indicated and validated product development. 

in its research and development efforts, the Company 

relies on medical and biomechanical evidence, as well 

as health economical data in order to develop valuable 

concepts for individuals and healthcare systems. Clinical 

outcome of products is effectively proven whenever 

applicable and communicated to the stakeholders. 

in accordance with this effort, össur initiates 

and promotes clinical studies in cooperation 

with recognized scientists and healthcare 

professionals.

in addition to disease or indication specific 

solutions, össur aims at mapping clinical 

pathways for increasing and improving on its 

product and service range. mapping clinical 

pathways involves defining all stages of progression 

and treatments of diseases for identification of all 

possibilities of interventions by product offering.
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corporate social responsibility

össur began working on its Corporate social 

responsibility (Csr) initiative in 2008. since then, 

the Company has gradually built awareness amongst 

employees, and started projects supporting the Csr 

initiative. in december 2011, össur joined the un 

global Compact, committing to 10 principles with 

regards to human rights, labor practices, environmental 

concerns and anti-corruption. Joining the un global 

Compact was a natural step for össur. it is equally 

important for a global company like össur to focus 

on Csr matters in a structured way and report on the 

Company’s progress in a recognized manner.

it is rewarding to be in a position to help change the 

lives of the Company’s customers. the products are the 

single largest contribution the Company can make to 

assist people in need. Employees are reminded every day 

of the courageous and inspirational people that need the 

Copany’s products. driving the design and innovations 

is that the products help people overcome hurdles in 

their everyday lives.

össur has strong core values: honesty, frugality and 

courage. these values serve as the foundation and 

driving force behind össur’s success and will continue to 

guide employees. össur’s values encourage employees 

to take social, ethical and environmental stands beyond 

the Company’s legal obligations.

in addition, these values help the Company to adapt to 

the various cultures in which it conducts business. with 

operations in 16 countries.

össur has monitored various aspects of Csr for four 

years. in 2011, it reached a milestone by formally 

committing to the global Compact. össur is committed 

to making the global Compact and its principles part 

of the Company’s strategy, culture and day-to-day 

operations. the first separate Csr report has now been 

published and is available on össur’s website: www.

ossur.com/Csr. when össur first started in 2008, it 

focused mainly on two areas: environmental concerns 

and fair operating practices, but has now expanded 

these efforts within all aspects of the business.

össur has used materials issued by the global Compact 

to develop and structure strategies to work within the 

Company’s Csr initiatives. in the report, össur is 

using gri indicators (global reporting initiative) to 

measure status and performance. the areas össur 

is currently focusing on are: vendors, consumer and 

quality, environment, community support and the 

workplace with a special emphasis on health and safety  

and equality.

further information about össur’s Csr activities are in 

the Company’s Csr progress report for 2012, available 

on the Company’s website: www.ossur.com/Csr
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aspECt mEasurEmEnt gri indiCatOr 2012 gOal 2015

labour practices incident rate internal kpi 27 17

labour practices incidents per 100 employees la7 (gri) 3,4 2,1

investment and 
procurement practises

number of agreement with asian suppliers that include 
clauseson human rights concerns hr1 (gri) 81% 95%

child labour number of suppliers audited regarding Child labor hr6 (gri) 91% 95%

qualtiy number of non-Conformity in external audits internal kpi 0 0

quality locations certified with isO90001 internal kpi all all

environment

total weight of waste by type and disposal method

• recycled waste
• trash
• hazardous waste

En22 (gri) 36%
47%
16%

increase 
portion of 
recyclable 
waste 

csr areas and goals for 2015

below are key measurements for össur’s current Csr areas and goals for 2015
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team Össur

for össur, 2012 was about “redefining ability” and 

ensuring that the products össur creates makes a 

positive and recognizable contribution to society. it is 

a philosophy epitomized by team össur, an amazing 

group of elite athletes and sporting role models össur 

is both proud and privileged to work with. the talents 

and dedication of the team have enthused a whole new 

generation to follow their dreams, on and off the track.

team össur is a group of athletes össur works with to 

help enhance the Company's products. in return össur 

is delighted to support them with the latest designs and 

technical assistance.

in september, team össur took center stage at the 

paralympic games held in london. blazing a victorious 

trail through the track and field events, they captured 21 

medals (six gold, seven silver and eight bronze), and set 

six new world records.

cheetah® xtreme
cheetah® xtend
cheetah® standard

these incredible athletes have done much more than 

win medals. they have helped to transform perceptions 

of what ‘disability’ is, in a way that goes far beyond 

sport. hopefully, this transformation will create a ripple 

effect, motivating others whose own mobility has been 

challenged and encouraging them to play more active 

roles in society with even greater confidence.

Congratulations Team Össur! 
Together, we are actively 
redefining ability.
…the journey continues 

flex-foot® cheetah®

when the flex-foot Cheetah running foot made 

its debut at the 1996 paralympic games, it was a 

groundbreaking development, nothing like it had 

ever existed in the prosthetic world before. 

today, the Cheetah design is recognized the world 

over and a prominent feature of any amputee 

sprinting event – more paralympic medals for 

sprinting have been won on a Cheetah than on  

any other foot.
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riChard whitEhEad
gOld mEdal fOr 200m
wOrld rECOrd
2012 paralympiC gamEs

blakE lEEpEr
silvEr mEdal fOr 400m
brOnZE mEdal fOr 200m
2012 paralympiC gamEs

mariE-améliE lE fur
gOld mEdal fOr 100m
silvEr mEdal fOr 200m
wOrld rECOrd fOr 200m
2012 paralympiC gamEs
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board of directors

niels Jacobsen
Chairman of the board of directors, born in 1957, resides in denmark. member 
of the board since 2005 and Chairman since 2006. mr. Jacobsen is president 
and CEO of william demant holding a/s, a danish industrial group in the 
hearing healthcare field. previous positions include president of Orion a/s 
and vice president in corporate affairs for both atlas danmark a/s and thrige-

titan a/s. mr. Jacobsen is also a board member of a number of danish companies and 
organizations, including lEgO a/s (chairman), kirkbi a/s (deputy chairman), a.p. møller-
mærsk a/s (deputy chairman) and he holds directorships in a number of wholly and partly 
owned companies in the william demant group, including Oticon a/s (chairman), william 
demant invest a/s (general manager), sennheiser Communications a/s (board member), 
himpp a/s (chairman), himsa a/s (chairman) and himsa ii a/s (board member). 
furthermore, he holds a seat on the central board of the Confederation of danish industries. 
mr. Jacobsen holds an m.sc. (business administration) from the university of aarhus in 
denmark (1983). he and his related parties hold 193,405 shares in the Company, but he 
holds no share options in the Company. mr. Jacobsen is the general manager of william 
demant invest a/s, the Company’s largest shareholder, which holds 187,085,828 shares in 
the Company. he has no interest links with the Company’s main clients or competitors. mr. 
Jacobsen is a dependent member of the board.

KristJán t. ragnarsson
vice Chairman of the board of directors, born in 1943, resides in the united 
states. member of the board since 1999 and vice Chairman since 2012. 
since 1986 dr. ragnarsson has served as a professor and Chairman of the 
department of rehabilitation medicine, the mount sinai medical Center in new 
york City. he has also served as the Chairman of the faculty practice associates 

board of governors at mount sinai school of medicine and president of the medical board 
of the mount sinai hospital. dr. ragnarsson graduated from the university of iceland’s 
school of medicine in 1969 and was certified by the american board of physical medicine 
and rehabilitation in 1976. he and his related parties hold 623,789 shares in the Company, 
but he holds no share options. dr. ragnarsson has no interest links with the Company’s 
main clients, competitors or major shareholders. dr. ragnarsson is a dependent member 
of the board.

svafa grÖnfeldt
member of the board of directors since 2008, born in 1965, resides in iceland. 
dr. grönfeldt is the Chief Organizational development Officer of alvogen, 
an american generic pharmaceutical company. previous positions include 
president of reykjavik university, deputy to the CEO of actavis group hf., 
assistant professor in the faculty of Economics and business administration 

at the university of iceland and managing director and managing partner of img gallup/
deloitte. dr. grönfeldt holds a doctorate in industrial relations from the london school of 
Economics. she neither holds shares nor share options in the Company. dr. grönfeldt has 
no interest links with the Company’s main clients, competitors or major shareholders. dr. 
grönfeldt is an independent board member.

arne boye nielsen
member of the board of directors since 2009, born in 1968, resides in 
denmark. mr. nielsen has spent his entire career with william demant holding 
a/s in various and expanding roles throughout the world. after working as 
a management assistant to mr. niels Jacobsen and as an interim general 
manager of Oticon australia pty ltd., mr. nielsen assumed in 1996 his current 

position as president of diagnostic instruments which has operations worldwide. in 2003 he 
became a member of the management group in william demant holding a/s. mr. nielsen 
is a member of the board of sennheiser Communications a/s and phonic Ear a/s as well 
as president of interacoustics a/s and director of maico diagnostic in berlin, germany. 
mr. nielsen has a b.sc. degree and a m.sc. degree in business administration from the 
Copenhagen business school in denmark. he neither has shares nor share options in the 
Company. mr. nielsen was nominated to the board by william demant invest a/s, the 
Company’s largest shareholder. he has no interest links with the Company’s main clients or 
competitors. mr. nielsen is a dependent member of the board.

össur’s board of directors is composed of five members who are elected at the Company’s 
annual general meeting for a term of one year. the board of directors works in accordance 
with the Company’s articles of association and its own formal rules of procedure. seven 
board meetings were held in 2012.

Þórður magnússon
member of the board of directors since 2005, born in 1949, resides in iceland. 
mr. magnússon is the chairman and principal shareholder of the investment 
company Eyrir invest ehf. he is on the board of a number of icelandic 
companies, including the retail companies byko ehf., kaupás hf. and norvik 
hf., and is the chairman of marorka ehf., handpoint ehf., remake Electric 

ehf. and saga medica ehf. mr. magnússon is also on the board of the iceland Chamber 
of Commerce and university of reykjavík. mr. magnússon was CfO at Eimskip for over 
20 years. he graduated with a business degree from the university of iceland in 1974 and 
holds an mba from the university of minnesota. mr. magnússon and his related parties 
hold 1,456 shares in the Company, but he holds no share options. he has no interest 
links with the Company’s main clients or competitors. mr. magnússon is an independent  
board member.
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executive management

egill Jónsson
Evp of manufacturing and Operations, born 1957. has been with össur since 
1996, and led the division from that period. he was formerly a project manager at 
vgk hf, an Engineering firm in reykjavik (1985-1996). mr. Jónsson has a masters 
degree in mechanical Engineering from the technical university in Copenhagen, 
dtu (1984).he and his related parties hold 822,749 shares in the Company.

ólafur gylfason
president of össur Europe (EmEa), born 1969. has been with össur since 1997, 
formerly working in international sales and as marketing and sales director for 
Europe. mr. gylfason holds a degree in business administration from bifrost school 
of business. he continued his studies at alborg university in denmark, graduating 
with a masters degree in international business Economics in 1997. ólafur is a 
substitute member of the board of the icelandic Chamber of Commerce since 2012.

Þorvaldur ingvarsson
Evp of r&d, born 1960, joined össur in 2009 as medical Officer. dr. Þorvaldur 
ingvarsson is a md from university of iceland and holds a phd degree from 
the university of lund in sweden, with emphasis on osteoarthritis and health 
economic outcomes. Þorvaldur has 19 years of experience as an orthopaedic 
surgeon. Þorvaldur has been an associative professor at the university of 

iceland since 2005. prior to joining össur he held a medical director position as well as a 
CEO position within the hospital setting. Þorvaldur has published more than 40 scientific 
papers and is currently involved in international research projects related to osteoarthritis, 
ligament healing, health economics outcomes and biomechanics of prostheses. Þorvaldur’s 
experience as a member of the board of directors in other companies / organizations 
includes:

• university hospital akureyri 1998-2009
• medor since 2011

mahesh mansuKhani
president of össur americas, born 1971. Joined össur in 2008. prior to joining 
the Company, he was a director at alixpartners, a turn-around consulting firm. 
from 2005-2007, he was the global business director for dupont tyvek®, and 
dupont’s global director of marketing and sales Effectiveness, from 2002-
2005. prior to these activities, mahesh held management roles in management 

Consulting and finance. mr. mansukhani has an m.a. degree in multinational accounting 
and financial management from reading university in England. he holds a finance 
post-graduate degree from warwick business school in England, and an mba from yale 
university in the united states. mr. mansukhani also currently holds a director position on 
the board of the aC (amputee Coalition of america).

Jón sigurðsson
össur president and Chief Executive Officer since 1996, born 1956, resides in 
the united states. he is a board member of rio tinto alcan in iceland and 
chairman of the icelandic america Chamber of Commerce. mr. sigurðsson was 
the Commercial Counselor for the icelandic trade Council in new york (1992-
1996), Chief financial Officer at Álafoss (1989-1991), head of the international 

division of Eimskip (1986-1989) and an Engineer for bang and Olufsen denmark (1982-
1984). he holds a b.sc. degree in industrial Engineering from Odense technical College 
in denmark and a master’s degree in business administration (mba) from the united 
states international university in san diego. mr. sigurðsson and his related parties hold 
341,168 shares in the Company. he has no interest links with the Company’s main clients, 
competitors or major shareholders.mr. sigurðsson’s experience as a member of the board 
of directors in other companies/organizations includes:

• rio tinto alcan iceland since 2003
• icelandic Chamber of Commerce 2002-2012
• reykjavik university from 2002-2009
• samherji hf. from 2002-2006
• the icelandic trade Council from 1997-2003
• research liaison Office of the university of iceland from 1996-2001

hJÖrleifur pálsson
Chief financial Officer, born 1963. has been with össur since 2001. he is a 
former partner at deloitte hf. mr. pálsson graduated in 1988 with a business 
degree from the university of iceland, and qualified as a Certified public 
accountant in 1989. mr. pálsson holds 20,000 shares in the Company. 
mr. pálsson’s experience as a member of the board of directors in other 

companies/organizations includes:

• the Enterprise investment fund since 2011
• sa – Confederation of icelandic Employers since 2010
• board of trustees at reykjavik university since 2010
• substitute board member of is funds hf. since 2010
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Össur shares

we serve investors by communicating in an informative 

and honest manner and we ambitiously reach out to our 

stakeholders.

össur communicates with shareholders and other 

stakeholders about the Company’s financial and 

business developments in an open and honest manner.

össur has been a listed company since 1999 and on 

nasdaq Omx in Copenhagen in since 2009.

the total number of investors at yearend 2012 was 2,781 

compared to 2,855 at yearend 2011. the share price at 

yearend 2012 was dkk 7.55 compared to 8.55 at yearend 

2011, decreasing by 12%.

maJor shareholders
since October 2005, william demant has been a leading 

shareholder in össur. niels Jacobsen, president and 

CEO of william demant holding a/s, has been össur’s 

Chairman of the board of directors since 2006.

in may 2012, the largest and controlling shareholder 

william demant invest made a voluntary public offer 

for shares in össur. the offer was made for technical 

reasons to ensure william demant invest’s flexibility as 

a controlling shareholder and stated it had no intentions 

to take over the Company or delist from nasdaq Omx 

Copenhagen. thus, shareholders were not encouraged 

or forced to sell their shares. the offer has not had any 

impact on össur’s operations or activities. shareholders 

holding 7,254,034 shares accepted the offer and after 

settlement of the offer william demant held 186,852,245 

shares in össur, corresponding to 41.2% of össur’s  

share capital.

treasury shares
the Company holds 5,017,992 treasury shares. no 

treasury shares were acquired in 2012.

USA

UK

Other35%

1%
6%

1%

57%

Denmark

Iceland

share holding by country

investor type of fund country holding

william demant invest a/s investment fund denmark 41.2%

atp pension fund denmark 6.2%

lífeyrissJóður verslunarmanna pension fund iceland 6.0%

gildi pension fund iceland 5.5%

maJor shareholders
shareholders that have announced holdings above 5% to the Company are:

Össur hf.
listed 1999

stocK exchange
nasdaq Omx Copenhagen

ticKer symbol
Ossr

number of shares
453,750,000

marKet cap 
31.12.2012

dk 3,426 million

usd 606 million 
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ir policy
the Company’s policy is to disclose financial and 

corporate information to provide investors, analysts and 

other stakeholders with comprehensive and accurate 

information in order to help them understand össur’s 

current and expected developments.

at all times, össur complies with relevant laws and 

regulations, as well as the disclosure obligations of 

nasdaq Omx. össur adheres to the principle of equal 

treatment of all stakeholders.

all press releases and announcements are disseminated 

through a recognized distribution vehicle. these 

communications are recorded and available on 

össur’s website for at least two years. furthermore, the 

Company meets interested investors and analysts on a 

regular basis.

quiet period
the end of a quarter up until the day of release of the 

relevant quarterly materials is considered a “quiet 

period.” for the full-year report, a period of four 

weeks prior to the release of the report is considered 

a quiet period. during the quiet period, össur does 

not comment on matters related to financial results or 

expectations.

further details about össur’s ir policy can be found on 

the Company’s website: www.ossur.com/investors

investor relations
placing an emphasis on providing investors, analysts and 

other stakeholders with timely and accurate information, 

össur hosts investor meetings, teleconferences and web 

presentations following each quarterly report, and other 

momentous occasions if needed.

to service institutional and larger investors the CEO, 

CfO and ir manager frequently travel to Copenhagen 

and london to ensure that current shareholders, and 

other relevant investors and stakeholders, can meet 

with management on a regular basis. in addition, össur 

managers travel at least once a year to paris, frankfurt, 

geneva and Zurich. in the past, össur has participated 

in various healthcare conferences such as the goldman 

sachs European medtech and healthcare services 

Conference in london, as well as the Jefferies healthcare 

conferences in london and new york.

to service private investors in denmark, össur has 

participated in the dansk aktiemesse, a conference for 

private shareholders in Copenhagen organized by the 

danish shareholder association. to further reach out to 

this group of investors, össur plans to increase efforts 

towards private investors during 2013. 

for the past three years össur has held its Capital 

markets day in Copenhagen.
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annual general meeting
according to the Company’s articles of association, the 

agm should be held before the end of april. the meeting 

is convened with at least three weeks’ notice, using the 

same procedures as other shareholders meetings. the 

agm results are sent to the stock Exchange immediately 

following the meeting, and are also made available on 

the Company’s website. 

össur’s annual general meeting will be held at the 

Company’s headquarters in iceland on march 15, 2013.

contact investor relations:
ms. sigurborg arnarsdóttir 

ir manager

tel. +354 515 1339

e-mail: sarnarsdottir@ossur.com

shareholder information on the internet
össur’s website hosts extensive information on the 

Company. shareholders and other stakeholders can 

read and subscribe to press releases sent to the 

nasdaq Omx stock Exchange, monitor price trends 

of the shares, utilize interactive analyst tools, read the 

Company’s annual reports and listen to teleconferences 

with Company management. a tool monitoring up-to-

date recommendations by analysts is also available. the 

website contains extensive information about Company 

products and technology.

www.ossur.com/investors

dividend policy
the Company’s current strategy is to retain earnings 

to finance future growth and strategic acquisitions. 

however, as communicated in the full year report for 

2011, the board of directors of össur stated that the 

board might change the Company’s dividend policy. 

the board of directors has therefore approved a new 

dividend policy.

through consistent profitability, growth and strong 

cash flows, össur has built up a strong balance sheet. 

after years of external growth, össur has decreased 

debt levels significantly and the Company is now in a 

position to return capital to shareholders. the board of 

directors will thus propose a new dividend policy to the 

shareholders at the annual general meeting.

the new dividend policy is as follows: 
össur’s policy is to distribute a relatively stable dividend. 

the dividends will be decided annually in dkk per share 

based on realized earnings, the operational outlook and 

capital considerations, starting at dkk 0.10 per share 

equivalent to 22% of net earnings in 2012.

in addition, the Company intends to purchase own 

shares with the aim to maintain a desired capital level 

of net interest bearing debt at usd 40 – 120 million. 

össur will continue to evaluate annual dividends and 

the repurchase of shares against the objectives of 

maintaining a solid financial position and the need for 

strategic investments.

publiCatiOn sChEdulE fOr quartErly rEpOrts

first quarter 24.04.2013

second quarter 24.07.2013

third quarter 23.10.2013

fourth quarter/full year 05.02.2014

agm 2014 14.03.2014
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Össur hf. analysts
europe
abg sundal Collier

morten larsen

tel: +45 (33) 18 61 19

e-mail: morten.larsen@abgsc.se

danske bank

thomas bowers

tel: +45 45 12 80 44

e-mail: thomas.bowers@danskebank.com

nOrdEa markets

søren vinter holm sørensen

tel: +45 33 33 55 35

e-mail: soren.v.h.sorensen@nordea.com

sEb Enskilda

niels granholm-leth

tel: +45 3697 7531

e-mail: niels.leth@enskilda.dk

Jefferies international ltd

ingeborg Oie

tel: +44 207 029 87 04

e-mail: ioie@Jefferies.com

iceland
ifs ráðgjöf

ari freyr hermannsson 

tel: +354 533 4600

e-mail: ari.freyr@ifs.is

Íslandsbanki

sigurður óli hákonarson

tel: +354 440 2784

e-mail: sigurdur.Oli.hakonarson@islandsbanki.is

arion banki

stefán broddi guðjónsson

tel: +354 444 6959

e-mail: stefan.gudjonsson@arionbanki.is

01.02 reporting Calendar 2012

01.02 q4 and full year report 2011 Conference Call

02.02 Cooperation with nike

08.02 q4 and full year report  2011

22.02 fidelity - major shareholder announcement

24.02 agm proposed agenda 

24.02 annual report

27.02 insider trading

28.02 insider trading

05.03 össur named among world’s “most innovative Companies” by fast Company magazine 

02.03 agm final agenda

14.02 Candidates to the bOd

16.03 results of the agm

16.03 board’s allocation of responsibilities

19.04 q1 2012 Conference Call

24.04 q1 2012 results

24.04 share option scheme

23.05 management changes

23.05 share option granted

18.07 q2 Conference call

25.07 q2 press release

25.07 statement from össur’s board of directors on the volunarey Offer from wdi

08.08 wdi announcement 

08.08 insider trading

08.08 major shareholder announcement

17.09 Comgratulations team össur

07.10 study on unloader One

16.19 q3 Conference call

23.10 q3 2012 results

08.11 insider trading

14.11 popular science awards to symbionic leg 

06.12 medical device tax 

össur prEss rElEasEs in 2012
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OvErviEw 2012

highlights 2012
sales growth for 2012 was 3% measured in local 

currency, which is in line with guidance of 2-3%. total 

sales amounted to usd 399 million compared to usd 

398 million in 2011. growth remains good across 

all segments and key markets in Europe, while the 

prosthetics market in the americas has been affected by 

adverse market conditions. sales growth in prosthetics 

across all markets was 4%, and sales growth for bracing 

and supports was 3%, both measured in local currency. 

the fourth quarter was a record quarter in bionic sales, 

accounting for 17% of prosthetics sales.

gross profit margin remains stable. the manufacturing 

facility in mexico is contributing, as are other lean 

initiatives within manufacturing and operations. slow 

growth in prosthetic sales in the americas has negatively 

affected the gross profit margin. gross profit amounted 

to usd 248 million or 62%, the same ratio as in 2011. 

Ebitda amounted to usd 70 million corresponding to a 

margin of 18%, which is in line with guidance of 18-19%.

net profit increased by 9% in 2012, and amounted to 

usd 38 million, compared to usd 35 million in 2011.

össur’s cash flow continues to be strong and cash flow 

from operations was 18% of sales in 2012, up from 17% 

in 2011.

through consistent profitability and strong cash 

flow, össur has built a strong balance sheet. the 

Company is now in a position to return capital to 

shareholders. the board of directors will thus propose 

a new dividend policy to the shareholders at the annual  

general meeting.

össur’s products exempt from the us medical device tax. 

in december the us department of treasury issued a 

final ruling, clarifying the applicability of a medical device 

tax created by the affordable Care act, the legislation 

that reforms us health care. the department of treasury 

has confirmed that the 2.3% tax on medical devices does 

not apply to prosthetics or orthotic devices. while össur 

does sell other products that may still be subject to the 

tax, the impact on össur is not expected to be material 

as these products generate limited sales.

new products – during the year, 29 products were 

launched with a healthy mix between bracing and 

supports, prosthetics and compression therapy. 

within bracing and supports, focus has been on 

further establishing and broadening successful product 

segments such as the unloader One, which treats knee 

osteoarthritis, and spinal support products as well as the 

rebound walker. in prosthetics the highlight product of 

the year was the symbiOniC® lEg, the first complete 

bionic leg. the symbiOniC lEg has been successful 

and received positive feedback from users. Other major 

projects in prosthetics include the balance product line, 

which is primarily for elderly users and people with low 

activity level.

mexico – this year marks the first full year of operation 

at the mexico facility, which opened in september 2011. 

the transfer of products previously manufactured at 

other össur locations to the mexico facility has been 

successful, resulting in material process improvement 

and cost savings. the facility is well equipped and 

will continue to strengthen össur’s manufacturing 

capabilities.

amputees make history – össur, like the rest of the 

world, celebrated when Oscar pistorius achieved his goal 

to compete at the Olympics and making history by being 

the first amputee to participate in the Olympics. again, 

at the paralympics disabled athletes inspired people 

all around the world, changing the perception of what 

people with disabilities can accomplish.

organizational changes 
in 2012 a new global marketing division was established. 

this unit is expected to work across functions and 

geographical locations to increase össur’s competitive 

edge in a changing market. increased focus will be on 

effectively communicating the outcomes of össur’s 

solutions and to further add value to össur’s customer 

experience.
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sales by geography

usd ‘000 2010 % of 
sales

growth 
usd

growth 
lcy

organic 
growth lcy

americas 207,999 52% 1% 1% -1%

emea 169,932 43% -2% 5% 5%

asia 21,506 5% 18% 18% 18%

total 399,437 100% 0% 3% 3%

sales by segment

usd ‘000 2012 % of 
sales

growth 
usd

growth 
lcy

organic 
growth lcy

bracing & 
supports

208,255 52% 0% 3% 3%

prosthetics 171,895 43% 1% 4% 2%

compression 
therapy

18,440 5% -1% 6% 6%

other 847 0%

total 399,437 100% 0% 3% 3%

sales
the Company’s total sales were usd 399 million, 

compared to usd 398 million in 2011. sales growth 

was 3%, both organic and measured in local currency. 

negative currency effects amounted to usd 11 million.

americas
sales growth in the americas was 1% and organic sales 

declined by 1%, both measured in local currency. sales 

in the us have been weak during the year as the us 

prosthetics market has been impacted by turbulence in 

the reimbursement environment. össur’s distribution 

contract with hanger expired at the end of the year and 

has not been renewed. hanger is the largest operator 

of O&p facilities in the us and the largest customer of 

the Company accounting for approximately 6% of total 

sales in 2012. sales to hanger could decrease in 2013, 

however, agreements with new prosthetics distributors 

were signed in the second half of the year, and are 

already having a positive impact. bracing and supports 

sales were moderate. sales and profitability in bracing 

and supports were affected by contractual adjustments 

to sales in one of össur’s distribution companies.

emea
EmEa delivered another good year, growing 5% both 

organic and measured in local currency. the prosthetics 

segment in EmEa continues to be strong with good 

growth in key markets such as germany and france. 

in addition, new markets such as turkey and russia 

are growing nicely. sales of bionic products have 

been excellent in 2012 and q4’12 was a record quarter 

in bionics sales. sales of bracing and supports in 

guidance 2013 – management estimates lCy organic sales growth for 2013 to be in the range of 

2-4%. Ebitda margin is estimated to be in the range of 18-19% of sales for the year
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france were slow, while sales growth in other markets  

were impressive.

growth in compression therapy was 6%, compared to 

3% in 2011. the first two quarters of the year showed 

excellent growth while sales slowed down in the second 

half of the year.

asia
sales growth in asia was excellent with 18% organic 

growth, measured in local currency. sales in Japan 

continue to be strong both in bracing and supports 

and prosthetics, as well as in other markets within 

össur asia. Japan is the single largest market within 

össur asia. at the beginning of the year, össur asia 

established a small subsidiary in south korea, which has 

shown steady progress.

gross profit
gross profit amounted to usd 248 million or 62% of 

sales in 2012 compared to usd 246 million and 62% of 

sales in 2011. the stable gross profit margin is a result 

of the success of the manufacturing facility in mexico in 

addition to other lean initiatives within manufacturing 

and operations. slow prosthetic sales in the americas 

have had negative effects on the gross profit margin.

össur achieved usd 4 million in savings from 

the mexico facility in 2012, which was in line with 

management’s commitment for the full year.

operating expenses
Operating expenses as a ratio to sales are at a similar 

level as in 2011. sales and marketing expenses and 

general and administrative expenses are growing in 
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the consolidated company as a whole is not jointly 

taxed. individual companies are either independent 

taxable entities or part of a tax sub-consolidation in the 

country where located. the income tax rate of the parent 

company in iceland was 20% in 2011.

net profits increased by 9% in 2012, amounting to usd 

38 million compared to usd 35 million in 2011. the 

increase was mainly driven by a decrease in financial 

expenses.

ebitda
the Ebitda ratio is 18%, the same as in 2011. affecting 

the Ebitda is slow prosthetics sales, contractual 

adjustments to sales in one of össur’s distribution 

companies, as well as increased investment in r&d. 

negative currency impact on Ebitda amounted to usd 

1.9 million. however, mexico is contributing positively. 

in 2012, össur did not make adjustments to the Ebitda 

due to one-time items.

earnings per share

earnings per share 2012 2011 change

eps diluted (us cents) 8.4 7.7 9%

cash eps diluted (us cents) 11.3 10.6 7%

balance sheets
össur’s balance sheets are strong with an equity ratio of 

69% compared to 63% at yearend 2011. strong cash flow 

from operations has resulted in further deleveraging, 

and net debt to Ebitda is now 1.2x. leverage has 

decreased rapidly following the financing in march 2011.

cash flow

usd ‘000 2012 % of 
sales

2011 % of 
sales

cash generated by operations 70,553 18% 68,377 17%

net cash provided by  
operating activities

57,568 14% 48,447 12%

capital expenditure and investments
Capital investments amounted to usd 14.3 million 

or 3.6% of sales, compared to usd 16.1 million and 

4.1% of sales in 2011. Capital investments in 2013 are 

expected to be towards the higher end of the guided 

range of 2.5-3.5%.

split between currencies 2012

currency split income cost

usd 52.8% 53.9%

eur 29.2% 25.0%

isK 0.4% 10.0%

other 17.6% 11.1%

total 100% 100%

line with sales while r&d expenses have increased. 

during the year, capacity within the r&d function in the 

americas has been strengthened.

profit from operations amounted to usd 57 million or 

14% of sales compared to usd 59 million and 15% of 

sales in 2011. 

amortization of intangible assets, relating to acquisitions 

made in previous years, amounted to usd 3.6 million, 

compared to usd 4.7 million in 2011. amortization in 

2013 will remain at a level similar to 2012.

financial items, tax and net profit
net financial expenses amounted to usd 6 million 

compared to usd 13 million in 2011. the substantial 

reduction is mainly attributable to reduced funding costs 

following refinancing in 2011, but also a result of rapidly 

reducing debt levels. foreign exchange differences were 

likewise minimal in 2012 after having been negative by 

usd 2 million in 2011.

in 2011, össur signed a financing agreement with three 

international banks on long-term financing. as a result 

of this financing structure, exchange rate effects flowing 

through the financial items in the income statement 

are materially lower than with the previous financing 

structure. 

income tax amounted to usd 13 million, corresponding 

to a 26% effective tax rate, compared to usd 12 million 

and a 26% effective tax rate in 2011.
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risK factors

investment in össur’s shares involves a high degree of 

risk. össur’s business, financial condition and results of 

operation going forward rest upon certain assumptions 

and could be seriously harmed if any of the factors 

described below occur. the Company cannot assure that 

its assumptions will be correct. furthermore, additional 

risks and uncertainties not presently known to össur, or 

that it currently deems immaterial, may also adversely 

affect its business operations and financial results. the risk 

factors discussed below are not listed in order of priority.

general risKs
össur’s assumptions regarding market trends may 

prove incorrect.

assumptions regarding demographic trends are important 

to össur. the Company expects, for example, that the 

population of elderly will continue to grow, an increasing 

proportion of this population will live an active lifestyle and 

that the number of people with diabetes will increase in the 

future. no assurance can be made that these assumptions 

will prove to be correct or that these demographic trends 

will result in a demand for the Company’s products.

össur is subject to risks related to its international 

operations.

headquartered in reykjavík, iceland, össur has 

significant operations in the united states and Europe, 

and also operates in asia, australia and africa. össur’s 

business and results of operations are therefore subject 

to various risks inherent to international operations. 

such risks include, among others, recessionary trends, 

inflation, instability of financial markets, exposure to 

different legal standards and enforcement mechanisms, 

trade barriers, rules regarding the origins of products, 

labor unrest, foreign exchange controls and political and 

social instability.

product liability claims could adversely impact össur’s 

financial condition and operations, and impair its 

reputation.

össur is responsible for the safety and effectiveness of 

its products. although össur engages in internal quality 

control and product testing procedures, the Company 

cannot guarantee that it won’t be found liable for a 

product liability claim in the future, or that insurance 

coverage will be sufficient or continue to be available on 

commercially reasonable terms.

third-party payers’ cost-control methods may result 

in reduced sales or repayment of prior sales. össur’s 

business is subject to healthcare industry reforms and 

legislative and regulatory changes.

most of össur’s customers rely on third-party payers, 

including both government healthcare programs and 

private health insurance plans, to cover and reimburse 

some or all of the costs associated with össur’s 

products. all third-party payers, whether governmental 

or commercial, are developing increasingly sophisticated 

methods of controlling healthcare costs, including review 

of claims. these cost-control methods also potentially 

limit the coverage and the amount of payment for which 

governmental and third-party payers may be willing to 

pay for medical products. as such, the continuing efforts 

of both governmental and private payers of healthcare 

to contain or reduce costs could lead to patients being 

unable to obtain approval for payment from these third-

party payers. if that were to occur, sales of össur’s 

products may decline significantly and its customers may 

reduce or eliminate purchases of its products. review 

of claims may lead to repayment of prior sales. further, 

future legislative or regulatory initiatives directed at 

reducing costs could be introduced at either the federal 

or state level. the Company cannot predict the impact of 

future legislative or regulatory initiatives on its business.

össur’s failure to comply with regulatory requirements, 

or receive regulatory clearance, or approval for its 

products or operations, including healthcare fraud and 

abuse laws and regulations, would adversely affect 

össur’s sales and potential for future growth.

össur’s products are medical devices that are subject to 

extensive regulation in the united states by the food and 

drug administration (fda), and by respective authorities 

in other countries where össur conducts business. such 

regulation can regulate virtually all aspects of a medical 

device’s design and testing, manufacture, safety, labeling, 

storage, recordkeeping, reporting, clearance and approval, 

promotion and distribution. failure to comply with the 

regulatory requirements of the applicable authority may 

subject a company to administrative or judicially imposed 

sanctions ranging from warning letters to criminal 

penalties or product withdrawal.
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operations of the Company. fluctuation in the exchange 

rates between the us dollar, Euro and icelandic krona 

can have an impact on össur’s financial condition and 

operations.

össur’s financing and tax structure is subject to laws 

and governmental approvals.

össur is committed to complying with tax rules and paying 

all legally obliged taxes. at the same time, the Company has 

a responsibility to its shareholders to legally minimize costs 

and maximize earnings. össur’s tax strategy is to strive for 

optimizing taxes through a flexible and effective financing and 

tax structure. the goal is to balance benefits against risks and 

costs while at the same time meeting reporting obligations, 

compliance obligations and corporate social responsibilities. 

össur recognizes that some areas are not free from doubt and 

that differing legal interpretations may be possible meaning 

that from time to time tax authorities may not share össur’s 

view and may question its interpretation. also, relevant laws 

and regulations may change as a result of which higher taxes 

could become due or changes would have to be made to the 

tax and legal structure.

össur is dependent on it systems.

össur’s business is supported by several systems. the 

systems that are classified as mission critical are the 

Erp system, the voip phone system and the Exchange/

Outlook email system. those systems can fail resulting in 

serious influence on the business like a reduced ability to 

receive orders and an impossibility to complete deliveries. 

without the Erp system working the ability to receive orders 

and complete shipping is seriously reduced. to improve 

reliability, in 2012 össur consolidated its systems into one 

highly, reliable data center in the us, duplicated for the 

mission critical systems into a disaster recovery site located 

in Europe.

össur is exposed to litigation from international 

investors.

in recent years össur’s shareholder base has changed 

and is now more diversified and has gradually become 

more international. accordingly, össur is more exposed 

to risk of litigation from international investors.

risKs related to corporate 
finance 
össur may fail to continue to grow through acquisitions.

a substantial proportion of össur’s growth in recent 

years has been driven by acquisitions. no assurance 

can be given that össur will be successful in identifying 

appropriate acquisition candidates in the key markets 

in which the Company operates or desires to operate. 

acquisitions involve a number of risks, including diversion of 

management resources and management focus, integration 

risk, unexpected or high integration costs, failure to retain 

key employees of an acquired business and failure to attain 

expected synergies. to mitigate risk, össur conducts due 

diligence and seeks protection from unexpected events 

through representations and warranties from selling 

shareholders.

össur is exposed to financing risks and instability within 

financial markets.

as a global business össur is exposed to various risk factors 

originating in the international financial markets, such 

as: interest rate risk, foreign exchange risk, credit risk and 

counterparty risk on cash held with financial institutions. 

these risk factors are managed according to internal rules 

that are outlined in the Company’s treasury policy. össur’s 

functional and reporting currency is the us dollar, hence 

fluctuations in local currencies can have an impact on the 
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risKs related to research  
& development 
össur may be adversely affected by developments in 

medicine.

össur’s main products are intended to improve the 

quality of life for individuals suffering the effects of 

accidents or illnesses that are currently incurable. no 

assurance can be given that össur’s target market 

will not be materially diminished by advances in 

medical science, or that össur will be able to generate 

comparable sales from alternative market segments.

össur may be unable to develop or secure the use of 

new technologies.

össur operates in markets that are characterized by 

rapid, technological change and driven by extensive 

research that is carried out by market participants. the 

development by any of össur’s competitors of substitute 

products that better satisfy market demands could 

have a material adverse effect on össur’s business and 

operations. a failure by össur to develop new products 

or enhance existing products could have a material 

adverse effect on the Company.

össur is subject to risks relating to the protection of 

intellectual property rights.

össur relies on a combination of patents, trademarks, 

trade secrets and non-disclosure and non-competition 

agreements to protect its proprietary intellectual 

property, and will continue to do so. while össur 

intends to defend against any threats to its intellectual 

property, there can be no assurance that these patents, 

trademarks, trade secrets or other agreements will 

adequately protect össur’s intellectual property.

risKs related to sales  
& marKeting
össur relies on orthopaedic professionals, and other 

agents in connection with the sale and distribution of 

its products.

össur’s sales depend primarily on the prescriptions 

and recommendations of its products by orthopaedic 

professionals. the Company has developed and 

maintained close relationships with a number of 

orthopaedics and prosthetic (O&p) workshops that 

support and recommend the Company’s products. a 

failure to maintain the support of such orthopaedics 

professionals and O&p workshops, or a failure 

to develop relationships with new orthopaedic 

professionals and O&p workshops, could adversely 

affect össur’s business and operations.

össur aims to maintain and increase its position as a 

market leader in non-invasive orthopaedics.

össur aims to play a leading role in the likely 

continuance of consolidation in its markets. össur’s 

success thereof is subject to multiple factors both 

internal and external. as for external factors the risk 

remains that competitors accelerate the consolidation 

of the market, and strengthen their own position, at the 

expense of other participants like össur.

össur relies on agents and third-party distributors in 

connection with the sale and distribution of its products.

third-party agents and distributors sell a portion of 

össur’s products. the Company’s largest wholesale 

customer accounted for 6% of the Company’s net 

sales at yearend 2012. Other distributors accounted for 

less than 2% of net sales for the same period. these 

agents and distributors are not employees of össur, 

and össur may be unable to influence their actions and 

performance.

risKs related to manufacturing 
& operations
össur is vulnerable to disruptions to its production and 

distribution facilities.

össur’s production and distribution facilities may be 

adversely affected by man-made or natural disasters. 

recently, össur has been working on a risk ranking 

program in all its manufacturing facilities, and the 

Company has managed to reduce the level of risk and 

awareness among employees.  however a natural 

disaster or the disruption of össur’s production for 

any other reason could adversely affect the Company’s 

production output, which, in turn, would impair the 

Company’s ability to fulfill customer orders. this could 

lead to a decline in sales and increased costs due to 

necessary shifts in production within the Company 

and the possible need to outsource production. 

the Company maintains insurance to cover such 

losses relating to man-made and natural disasters. 

no assurance can be given, however, that insurance 

payments would be sufficient to cover the full loss 

resulting from a disruption in össur’s production or that 

össur’s insurance would cover the event that causes 

such a disruption.

össur is dependent on certain raw materials.

össur’s products require silicone and carbon, metals 

and other raw materials. such raw materials may not 

always be available on favorable terms, or at all.
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this statutory statement on corporate governance is made 

in accordance with article 66 (c) of the icelandic financial 

statements act no. 3/2006, as amended. this statement has 

been approved by the board of directors and is published 

in the annual report and on the Company’s website. 

this statement covers the financial year that ended on  

31 december 2012.

the statement includes information on the following 

items:

• a reference to the corporate governance 

recommendations the Company follows and how 

the Company addresses the recommendations, 

including any deviations and explanations thereto.

• a descripton of the main aspects of internal controls 

and risk management systems in connection with 

the preparation of financial statements.

• a description of the Company’s organizational 

structure and the role and composition of each 

function.

1. corporate governance 
the Company has chosen to follow the danish 

recommendations on Corporate governance because 

the Company’s shares are traded on nasdaq Omx 

Copenhagen. it is recommended in the explanations 

to clause 4.3 of nasdaq Omx Copenhagen’s rules for 

issuers of shares to apply the danish recommendations 

if foreign companies are not subject to other rules. 

applying the danish recommendations will also make it 

easier for investors on the danish market to assess the 

Company’s corproate governance practices.

the latest danish recommendations on Corporate 

governance were issued by the Corporate governance 

Committee in august 2011 and are available on the 

Committee’s website: www.corporategovernance.dk.

the Company complies with the vast majority of the 

danish recommendations. the few deviations are 

explained below. a complete report on the Company’s 

compliance with each recommendation is available on 

the Company’s website.

• the Company does not publish all information to 

the stock market in danish. instead the Company 

publishes all its material in English based on the 

assumption that most shareholders and investors 

are familiar with that language. taking into account 

that the Company is legally domiciled in iceland 

and its shares are admitted to trading on nasdaq 

Omx Copenhagen, the Company also publishes 

the highlights of each quarterly financial report in 

icelandic and danish.

• the majority of the board of directors is considered 

dependent. two of the members of the board 

represent the interest of the Company’s controlling 

shareholder. One member has been on the board 

for 14 years. the two other members of the board 

are considered independent. in the board’s opinion 

it is normal and understandable that the controlling 

shareholder is represented by two out of five 

members of the board. it is also the board’s opinion 

that its longest serving member is in fact acting 

independently of special interest and his skills and 

experience, including his medical expertise and 

knowledge of the us healthcare system, are valuable 

to the board and ensures diversity within it. 

• the Company’s articles of association do not 

include a provision on a fixed retirement age for 

members of the board of directors. in the board’s 

opinion, age is irrelevant as long as the contribution 

of the respective member of the board is considered 

valuable. 

• no nomination committee has been established and 

a remuneration committee was abolished in 2010 

and the Company currently has no remuneration 

committee. in the board of directors’ opinion 

such committees are not necessary taking into 

account the size of the board and the balanced and 

relevant expertise and experience of the current 

members of the board. the board has the role and 

responsibilities such committees would otherwise 

have.

• the remuneration policy does not include criteria 

that ensures that the vesting period for variable 

components of remuneration agreements are longer 

than one calendar year. bonuses for short-term 

performance may be paid quarterly, semi-annually 

or annually. the Company believes it is important to 

have certain flexibility to pay out such bonuses. On 

the other hand the vesting time for share options for 

long-term performance is currently three years. 

corporate governance
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external auditors’ evaluation of these processes is 

included in the audit report.

the Company goes through a detailed strategic and 

forecast process each year and a strategy and forecast 

report is prepared. the board approves the Company’s 

strategy, forecasts and targets each year. performances 

against targets are monitored on a monthly basis. this 

includes a year over year comparison where the main 

reasons for changes are explained. a 12-month forecast 

is available at all times and forecasts are updated 

quarterly and reasons for changes explained.

to ensure high quality in the Company’s financial 

reporting systems, the  following policies, procedures 

and guidelines for financial reporting and internal 

control have been adopted, to which the subsidiaries 

and reporting units must adhere: 

• Continuous analysis of year over year comparison.

• Continuous follow-up on results achieved compared 

to assumptions in forecasts.

• policies for it use, insurance, cash management, 

procurement, etc.

• reporting instructions as well as reporting and 

finance manuals.

the responsibility for maintaining sufficient and effective 

internal control and risk management in connection with 

financial reporting lies with the CEO.

the Company does not have an internal audit function, 

but uses internal control systems that are monitored by 

the audit Committee and assessed by external auditors.

• the Company’s new share incentive scheme, 

approved at the Company’s annual general meeting 

in 2012, is not a roll-over program. share options are 

granted in full in the beginning and not periodically. 

the Company has had the same setup in previous 

share incentive schemes and it was not considered 

feasible to propose a switch to a roll-over program 

last year. the Company will consider doing so the 

next time a share incentive scheme is introduced.

• the board of directors and the audit Committee 

do not meet the external auditors without the 

CEO being present. however, the Chairman has a 

separate conversation with the auditors without 

the CEO being present. the board intends to take 

necessary measures to ensure compliance with the 

relevant recommendations in 2013.

2. main aspects of internal controls and 
risK management systems in connection 
with preparation of financial statements

internal controls
the board of directors has an ongoing dialogue with the 

CEO on the identification, description and handling of 

risks to which the Company may be exposed. material 

risks and risk management are discussed in the annual 

report.

the Company’s risk management and internal controls, 

in relation to financial processes, are designed to control 

the risk of material misstatements. the Company 

designs its processes to ensure there are no material 

weaknesses with internal controls that could lead to a 

material misstatement in its financial reporting. the 
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external auditors
an auditing firm is elected at the annual general 

meeting for a term of one year. the external auditors 

are not allowed to own shares in the Company. the 

external auditors shall examine the Company’s annual 

Consolidated financial statements in accordance with 

international standards on auditing, and shall, for this 

purpose, inspect account records and other material 

relating to the operation and financial position of the 

Company. the external auditors shall have access to 

all of the Company’s books and documents at all times. 

the external auditors report any significant findings 

regarding accounting matters and any significant 

internal control deficiencies via the audit Committee to 

the board of directors in the auditor’s report.

3. organizational structure and the 
role and composition of each function
according to the Company’s articles of association the 

Company is managed by: 

• shareholders’ meetings

• the board of directors

• the Chief Executive Officer

shareholders’ meetings
the supreme authority in all affairs of the Company, 

within the limits established by the Company’s articles 

of association and statutory law, is in the hands of lawful 

shareholders’ meetings. 

the Company’s controlling shareholder, william demant 

invest a/s, holds 41.2% of the shares and voting rights.

the board of directors
according to the Company’s articles of association the 

board of directors is responsible for the affairs of the 

Company between shareholders’ meetings.

the board shall operate in accordance with the Company’s 

articles of association and the board’s rules of procedure. 

the principal duties of the board are as follows: 

• appoint a CEO and decide on salary and the terms 

of employment, establish terms of reference and 

supervise the CEO’s work.

• supervise continuously and precisely all aspects 

of the Company’s operations and ensure that the 

Company’s organization and activities are always 

in order. in particular, the board of directors 

shall ensure adequate supervision of the financial 

control and accurate reporting and disposal of the 

Company’s financial assets, and at least once a year 

confirm the Company’s financial plans.

• Establish the Company’s goals in accordance with 

the Company’s objectives pursuant to the articles of 

association, and formulate the policy and strategy 

required to achieve these goals.

the audit committee
the audit Committee shall operate in accordance with 

its rules of procedure. the principal duty of the audit 

Committee is to ensure the quality of the Company’s 

Consolidated financial statements and other financial 

information, and the independence of the Company’s 

auditors.

the chief executive officer
according to the Company‘s articles of association 

the board of directors appoints a CEO to manage the 

Company‘s daily operations.

the principal duties of the CEO are as follows: 

• the CEO is responsible for daily operations and is 

obliged to follow the board’s policy and instructions 

in that regard. the daily operations do not include 

measures that are unusual or extraordinary. the 

CEO may only take such measures if specially 

authorized by the board, unless it impossible to 

wait for the board’s decision without substantial 

disadvantage to the Company’s operations. in such 

an event the CEO shall inform the board of his 

measures, without delay. 

• the CEO shall normally act as chairman in the 

Company’s subsidiaries, which are connected with 

the sales and manufacturing activities and/or the 

core activities of the Company. 

• the CEO is responsible for the work and results of 

Executive management.  

• the CEO shall ensure that the Consolidated 

financial statements of the Company conform to the 

law and accepted practices and that the treatment 

of the Company’s assets is secure. the CEO shall 

provide any information that may be requested by 

the Company’s auditors.

references to the executive board in the corporate 

governance recommendations only apply to the CEO.

the full report on corporate governance, further information 

on the board, the audit Committee and the CEO can be 

found in the annual report and on the Company’s website.
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remuneration and shareholding

the remuneration and shareholding of Össur directors and executives

board of directors position
remuneration(i) 

usd '000

number of
 shares 2012 
(incl. financially  

linKed parties)

number of 
shares 2011 

(incl. financially  
linKed parties)

share option

niels Jacobsen (ii) Chairman of the board 90 187,276,933 179,791,616 0

kristján tómas ragnarsson vice Chairman of the board 54 623,789 623,789 0

arne boye nielsen board member 36 0 0 0

svafa grönfeldt board member 36 0 0 0

Þórður magnússon board member 36 1,456 1,456 0

ceo and executive management

Jón sigurðsson president & CEO 1,441 341,168 265,258 1,250,000

Egill Jónsson Evp of m&O 433 822,749 822,749 500,000

hjörleifur pálsson CfO 627 20,000 0 500,000

mahesh mansukani president of össur americas 566 0 0 500,000

ólafur gylfason president of össur EmEa 610 0 0 500,000

Þorvaldur ingvarsson Evp of r&d 190 0 0 500,000

(i) salaries and related expenses. 
(ii)  the vast majority of the shares, or 187,085,828 are owned by william demant invest a/s, where niels Jacobsen is the general manager.
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It is the policy and priority of Össur hf. and its subsidiaries 

(“the Company”) to attract and retain exceptional 

employees long-term. In order to achieve this, the 

Company must have in place a competitive compensation 

structure in each of its operations. To the extent possible, 

the remuneration of managers and other employees 

shall be harmonized and fair, taking into account their 

responsibilities, local trends, performance and other relevant 

factors. 

This Remuneration Policy is designed and implemented to 

ensure, to the extent possible, the alignment of interest of 

the Board of Directors, the President & CEO and Executive 

Management with the Company’s performance long-term. 

the remuneration of the president & CEO and Executive 

management shall be determined as follows: 

1. Fixed salary. when determining fixed salary, account 

should be taken of their responsibilities, local trends, 

performance and other relevant factors, such as the 

remuneration of their peers in other international 

companies of similar size.

2. Bonuses for short-term performance. bonuses 

for short-term performance can be up to 50% of 

the basic salary. in determining bonuses, special 

attention shall be given to the Company’s overall 

results, actual growth and its long-term profitability. 

bonuses may be paid quarterly, semi-annually or 

annually.

3. bonuses may be paid with shares in the Company, in 

part or in full. the shares shall not be delivered until 

three years after the bonus has been determined.

4. if bonus payments have clearly been based on false, 

misleading or insufficient data, such payments shall 

be repaid to the extent correct data shows that no or 

lower bonus would have been paid.

5. Share options for long-term performance. share 

options may be offered. the key terms of such share 

option agreements or plans shall be submitted to 

a shareholders’ meeting for approval. put options 

shall not be offered and no loans or guarantees shall 

be granted.

6. Pension rights. pension payments shall be paid to 

pension funds in accordance with applicable laws 

and employment agreements. no pension liabilities 

shall be undertaken, unless required by law. 

7. Severance payments. no special retirement 

agreements shall be made, but instead shall mutual 

termination clauses in employment agreements 

apply. termination clauses shall not exceed twenty-

four (24) months.

8. the remuneration of the board of directors shall be 

approved by the Company’s annual general meeting 

each year and paid in cash.

this remuneration policy shall apply to all future 

employment agreements with the president & CEO 

and Executive management. Existing agreements shall 

remain unchanged and in full force unless otherwise 

agreed by relevant parties. 

the remuneration policy is binding for the board 

as regards share options, cf. item 3 above. in other 

instances the remuneration policy shall be of guidance 

for the board. any departure from the remuneration 

policy shall be recorded and reasoned in the board’s 

minutes.

This Remuneration Policy has been approved by the Board 

of Directors of Össur hf. in accordance with Article 79. 

a. of the Icelandic Companies Act No. 2/1995, taking 

into consideration the Icelandic Guidelines on Corporate 

Governance. The Remuneration Policy is reviewed once 

a year and shall be approved at the Company’s Annual 

General Meeting, with or without amendments. 

the remuneration policy of Össur hf. 
board of directors, president & ceo and executive management
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ConSolidated StatementS  2012 2011 2010 2009 2008

inCome net sales usd '000 399,437  398,325  358,538  330,580  346,835  

Statement gross profit usd '000 247,952  246,070  222,622  201,815  214,203 

 Operating expenses (excl. other income) usd '000 191,278  188,773  163,964  154,071  167,678 

 profit from operations usd '000 56,776  59,400  60,245  48,240  55,958 

 net profit usd '000 37,763  34,608  35,362  22,762  28,488 

 Ebitda usd '000 69,956  72,606  74,358  66,988  79,440   

SaleS Growth sales growth usd % 0  11  9    (            5 ) 4 

 growth breakdown:      

 Organic growth in lCy % 3 5 6 (            1 )  2 

 Currency effect % (            3 )  3 (           1 ) (            4 )  2 

 acquired/divested business % 1  4  4  0  0  

BalanCe Sheet total assets usd '000 591,163  579,968  607,078  628,217  603,778 

 Equity usd '000 407,734  364,733  343,558  312,223  249,648 

 net interest-bearing debt (nibd) usd '000 82,218  111,413  132,816  157,633  234,281   

CaSh Flow Cash generated by operations usd '000 70,553  68,377  64,331  85,770  71,460 

 Cash provided by operating activities usd '000 57,568  48,447  39,995  69,155  52,835 

 Cash flows from investing activities usd '000 (   26,633 ) (   18,585 ) (   18,987 ) (   16,423 ) (      6,648 )

 Cash flows from financing activities usd '000 (   29,173 ) (   64,507 ) (   45,594 ) (     4,284 ) (    30,610 )

 free Cash flow usd '000 43,310  32,493  33,389  60,238  46,040   

keY FiGUreS Operating margin % 14.2  14.9  16.8  14.6  16.0 

 Ebitda margin % 17.5  18.2  20.7  20.3  22.9 

 Equity ratio % 69.0  62.9  56.6  49.7  41.3 

 ratio of net debt to Ebitda  1.2  1.5  1.8  2.4  2.9 

 ratio of debt to Ebitda  1.5  1.8  2.5  3.5  3.3 

 Current ratio  1.9  1.7  1.9  2.3  1.1 

 return on equity % 10.0  9.6  10.2  8.1  11.0 

 Employees  1,860  1,864  1,627  1,532  1,587 

market market value of equity usd '000 605,649  675,533  777,593  529,151  349,263 

 number of shares millions 454  454  454  454  423 

 price/earnings ratio, (p/E)   15.8  20.0  22.3  23.2  12.3 

 diluted Eps us Cent 8.4  7.7  7.8  5.3  6.7 

 diluted Cash Eps us Cent 11.3  10.6  10.9  9.7  12.3    

  

  financial ratios for 2011 are based on restated figures, see note 5. 

finanCial highlights and kEy ratiOs    
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it is the opinion of the board of directors and the president and 

CEO of össur hf. (the Company), that these Consolidated financial 

statements present the necessary information to evaluate the 

financial position of the Company at year end, the operating results 

for the year and financial developments during the year 2012. össur 

Consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with 

international financial reporting standards (ifrs) as adopted by 

the European union and additional danish disclosure requirements 

for listed companies.

össur hf. designs, manufactures and sells orthopaedic products 

specializing in prosthetics, bracing and supports and compression 

therapy solutions. the Company is headquartered in iceland and 

the Company owns and operates subsidiaries in the united states, 

Canada, mexico, france, the netherlands, germany, united 

kingdom, sweden, norway, spain, s- africa, China, hong kong, 

korea and australia. the Company sells its products world wide, 

but the principal market areas are north america and Europe.

the total sales of the össur Consolidation amounted to usd 399.4 

million, compared to usd 398.3 million in the preceding year. this 

represents an increase in sales of approximately 0.3%. net profit 

amounted to usd 37.8 million compared to usd 34.6 million 

in 2011. diluted Earnings per share amounted to us cents 8.4 

compared to us cents 7.7 in 2011. Earnings before interest, taxes, 

depreciation and amortization (Ebitda) amounted to usd 70.0 

million compared to usd 72.6 million in the preceding year.

at beginning of 2012, the Company published a guidance of 

4-6% organic sales growth and 20-21% Ebitda margin. due 

to negative sentiment in the americas prosthetic market and 

slowdown in prosthetics sales in the region, management 

announced a revised guidance in the third quarter report 2012 

of 2-3% organic sales growth and 18-19% Ebitda margin. this 

revised guidance has materialized as organic growth for the 

year was 3% and Ebitda margin was 18%.

the total assets of the össur Consolidation amounted to usd 

591.2 million at year end, liabilities were 183.5 million and 

equity was 407.7 million. the equity ratio at year end was 69%, 

compared to 63% the preceding year.

in the course of the year the Company employed on average 

1860 employees. 

össur is listed on the nasdaq Omx Copenhagen. the market 

value of the Company at year end was usd 606 million. during 

the year the share price in dkk decreased by 12%. at year end, 

shareholders in össur hf. numbered 2,781 compared to 2,855 

at the beginning of the year. One shareholder owned more than 

10% of the shares in the Company at year end: william demant 

invest a/s, with 41.2%.

a new share option scheme was approved by the annual 

general meeting on 16 march 2012 in accordance with 

the Company’s remuneration policy. the CEO, Excecutive 

management and next level of management can be granted 

up to 6,750,000 share options at each time, vesting three 

years after grant date and can be exercised for a period of 

one year during open trading windows. at this time 6,750,000 

share options have been granted in total. the exercise price is 

determined as the Company’s average share price on nasdaq 

Omx Copenhagen 20 trading days prior to the grant date. the 

exercise price shall be adjusted for any dividend payments 

made by the Company after the grant date.

in its procedures, the board of directors complies with the 

articles of association of the Company, the board of directors' 

rules of procedure and follows the danish recommendations 

for Corporate governance issued by the danish Committee on 

Corporate governance. the rules of procedure address issues 

such as allocation of responsibilities and power of decision 

within the board, independency issues, confidentiality etc. 

an audit Committee is present within the board. no össur 

employees are sitting on the board of directors.

the board of directors recommends payment of dividends to 

shareholders in 2013 amounting to dkk 0.10 per share, this 

approximates usd 8 million and 22% of 2012 net profit. as 

regards to changes in the equity of the Company, the board 

refers to the notes attached to the Consolidated financial 

statements.

reykjavík, 6 February 2013

Board of directors

niels Jacobsen
Chairman of the Board

 arne boye nielsen             kristján t. ragnarsson

Þórður magnússon svafa grönfeldt

President and Ceo

Jón sigurðsson

the board of directors and president and CEO of össur hf. hereby confirm the Consolidated financial statements of össur for the year 2012 with their signatures.

statEmEnt by thE bOard Of dirECtOrs and prEsidEnt and CEO
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to the Board of directors and shareholders of Össur hf.

we have audited the accompanying Consolidated 

financial statements of össur hf., which comprise the 

statement of the board of directors and president and 

CEO, the balance sheet as of 31 december 2012, the 

income statement, statement of comprehensive income, 

statement of changes in equity and cash flow statement 

for the year then ended, and a summary of significant 

accounting policies and other explanatory information.

management's and the Board of directors responsibility 

for the Financial Statements

management and the board of directors are responsible 

for the preparation and fair presentation of these 

Consolidated financial statements in accordance 

with international financial reporting standards as 

adopted by the European union and additional danish 

disclosure requirements for listed companies and for 

such internal control as management and the board of 

directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation 

of financial statements that are free from material 

misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

auditor’s responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these 

financial statements based on our audit. we conducted 

our audit in accordance with international standards on 

auditing. those standards require that we comply with 

ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to 

obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial 

statements are free from material misstatement.

an audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit 

evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 

financial statements. the procedures selected depend 

on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment 

of the risks of material misstatement of the financial 

statements, whether due to fraud or error. in making 

those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal 

control relevant to the entity's preparation of the financial 

statements in order to design audit procedures that are 

appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose 

of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 

entity's internal control. an audit also includes evaluating 

the appropriateness of accounting policies used and 

the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by 

management, as well as evaluating the presentation of the 

financial statements.

we believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is 

sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit 

opinion.

opinion

in our opinion, the Consolidated financial statements 

gives a true and fair view, of the financial position of össur 

hf. as of 31 december 2012, and its financial performance 

and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance 

with international financial reporting standards as 

adopted by the European union and additional danish 

disclosure requirements for listed companies.

kópavogur, 6 February 2013

deloitte ehf.

sigurður páll hauksson

State authorized Public accountant

signý magnúsdóttir

State authorized Public accountant

indEpEndEnt auditOr’s rEpOrt
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 noteS  2012 2011 

net SaleS 6 399,437  398,325

 Cost of goods sold   (  151,485 ) (  152,255 )

GroSS ProFit     247,952  246,070 

 Other income  8        102  2,103

 sales and marketing expenses   ( 120,924 ) ( 119,313 )

 research and development expenses   (   22,131 ) (   19,654 )

 general and administrative expenses   (   48,223 ) (   49,806 )

ProFit From oPerationS      56,776       59,400

 financial income            153           224

 financial expenses   (     6,788 ) (   10,845 )

 net exchange rate difference        281  (     2,052 ) 

 net financial income / (expenses) 11 (     6,354 ) (   12,673 )
 

 share in net profit of associated companies   456  104

ProFit BeFore tax       50,878  46,831  

income tax  12 (   13,115 ) (   12,223 )

net ProFit  37,763  34,608

 attributable to:

Owners of the Company   38,451  33,810

non-controlling interests   (        688 )  798

  37,763  34,608  

earninGS Per Share 13

basic Earnings per share (us Cent)   8.4  7.7  

diluted Earnings per share (us Cent)   8.4  7.7

2011 figures are restated, see note 5.  

COnsOlidatEd inCOmE statEmEnts 2012 and 2011
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 noteS  2012  2011 

net ProFit 37,763  34,608  

other ComPrehenSive inCome

gain / (loss) on hedge of a net investment in foreign operations  0              (     1,175 )

Change on cash flow hedges  1,334  1,100 

translation difference of shares in foreign operations 3,894  (     4,639 )

income tax relating to components of other comprehensive income  199 (          56 )

Other comprehensive income (net of tax) 5,427 (     4,770 ) 

total comprehensive income 43,190  29,838  

attributable to:

Owners of the Company  43,878  29,040  

non-controlling interests  (         688 ) 798  

 43,190  29,838 

2011 figures are restated, see note 5.

COnsOlidatEd statEmEnts Of COmprEhEnsivE inCOmE 2012 and 2011
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aSSetS

 noteS 31.12.2012 31.12.2011

 

non-CUrrent aSSetS

property, plant and equipment  15 35,489   36,239 

goodwill  16 348,935   333,484 

Other intangible assets  17 33,136   29,921 

Other financial assets  19 6,824   6,809 

deferred tax assets  28 26,565   31,951   

  450,949   438,404   

     

CUrrent aSSetS      

      

inventories  20 56,757   52,171 

accounts receivables  21 52,666   52,549 

Other assets  22 8,913   17,188 

bank balances and cash  23 21,878   19,656    

  140,214   141,564    

total aSSetS  591,163   579,968

2011 figures are restated, see note 5.   

COnsOlidatEd balanCE shEEts 
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eqUitY and liaBilitieS

 noteS 31.12.2012 31.12.2011 

eqUitY

issued capital  24 193,791   193,791 

reserves   1,091    (      3,841 )

retained earnings   211,971   173,120 

Equity attributable to owners of the Company  406,853   363,070  

non-controlling interest in equity   881   1,663    

total eqUitY  407,734   364,733   

non-CUrrent liaBilitieS

borrowings  26 83,742   110,113 

deferred tax liabilities  28 17,687   16,010 

provisions  29 4,838   4,493 

Other financial liabilities  27 2,151   2,216   

   108,418   132,832   

CUrrent liaBilitieS

borrowings  26 20,354   20,956 

accounts payable   17,120   20,305 

taxes payable   767   3,915 

provisions  29 4,762   3,634 

accrued salaries and related expenses    16,894   18,192 

Other liabilities  31 15,114   15,401   

  75,011   82,403   

total eqUitY and liaBilitieS  591,163   579,968

2011 figures are restated, see note 5.   

31 dECEmbEr 2012 and 31 dECEmbEr 2011 
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 noteS 2012 2011

CaSh FlowS From oPeratinG aCtivitieS

profit from operations    56,776  59,400    

depreciation and amortization   15, 17 13,180  13,206    

(gain) / loss on disposal of assets    127 (      1,355 )  

Change in provisions    1,394  862  

Changes in operating assets and liabilities    (         924 ) (      3,736 ) 

CaSh Generated BY oPerationS   70,553  68,377    

interest received    127  176   

interest paid    (      4,637 ) (    12,442 ) 

taxes paid    (      8,475 ) (      7,664 ) 

net CaSh Provided BY oPeratinG aCtivitieS   57,568  48,447    
         

CaSh FlowS From inveStinG aCtivitieS                  

purchase of fixed and intangible assets   15, 17 (    14,319 ) (    16,143 ) 

proceeds from sale of fixed assets    61  189   

acquisition of subsidiaries   33 (    11,443 ) 0  

Changes in financial assets    (         932 ) (      2,631 ) 

   (    26,633 )   (    18,585 ) 

CaSh FlowS From FinanCinG aCtivitieS                  

proceeds from long-term borrowings    0  116,147 

repayments of long-term borrowings    (    21,718 ) (  195,427 ) 

Changes in revolving credit facility    (      6,840 ) 23,742   

dividends from subsidiaries paid to non-controlling interests     (         615 ) (         763 )

purchased treasury shares    0 (      8,206 )   

   (    29,173 ) (    64,507 ) 
           

net ChanGe in CaSh    1,762 (    34,645 ) 

eFFeCtS oF exChanGe rate ChanGeS on:         

   balance of cash held in foreign currencies    (         240 )  522   

   Other items held in foreign currencies    700 (         620 ) 

CaSh at BeGinninG oF Period    19,656  54,399     

CaSh at end oF Period    21,878   19,656    

additional information regarding cash flow  14

2011 figures are restated, see note 5.

COnsOlidatEd statEmEnts Of Cash flOws 2012 and 2011
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COnsOlidatEd statEmEnts Of ChangEs in Equity 
fOr thE pEriOd EndEd 31 dECEmbEr 2012

        attriB. to non- 
 Share Share StatUtorY Share oPtion hedGinG tranSlation aCCUmUlated ownerS oF ControllinG total
 CaPital PremiUm reServe reServe reServe reServe ProFitS  the Parent intereSt eqUitY

balance at 1 January 2011  5,068   196,929   1,267  1,944   (    4,023 )  2,232   138,513   341,930   1,628   343,558    

net profit             33,810   33,810   798  34,608  

loss on hedge of a net investment in                      

   foreign operations net of tax           (     1,175 )    (     1,175 )                              (      1,175 ) 

Change in cash flow hedges net of tax          1,044       1,044     1,044  

translation difference of shares in foreign operations         (     4,639 )    (     4,639 )    (     4,639 ) 

total comprehensive income for the period   0  0   0   0   1,044   (     5,814 )  33,810  29,040   798  29,838  

payment of dividends                0     (        763 ) (        763 )

share option charge for the period        517         517     517

share option reserve release        (       797 )      797   0    0 

share option vested during the period         (       211 )       (        211 )   (               211  )

purchased treasury shares   (         44 )(    8,162 )          (     8,206 )  (    8,206 )  

balance at 31 december 2011  5,024     188,767   1,267  1,453   (     2,979 ) (     3,582 )  173,120   363,070   1,663   364,733  

net profit                 38,451  38,451   (       688 ) 37,763 

Change in cash flow hedges net of tax               1,392      1,392    1,392 

translation difference of shares in foreign operations               4,035      4,035      4,035  

total comprehensive income for the period  0   0  0   0   1,392   4,035   38,451   43,878   (       688 ) 43,190   

payment of dividends               0   (       307 ) (                 307 )

share option charge for the period       892          892     892 

share option reserve release       (       400 )      400   0     0 

arising on acquisition               0   213   213 

share option vested during the period       (       987 )       (        987 )    (       987 )

balance at 31 december 2012  5,024    188,767   1,267  958    (      1,587 )      453    211,971   406,853   881  407,734 
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1. general information

össur hf. is a global orthopaedics company, specializing in the 

design, development, manufacturing and sales of prosthetics, 

bracing and supports and compression therapy products. 

the principal market areas of the Company are the americas, 

Europe, middle East and africa (EmEa) and asia.

according to the Company's organizational structure, the 

consolidation is divided into five main functions; Corporate 

finance, responsible for overall financial management; 

manufacturing & Operations, responsible for quality control 

and all production, inventory management and distribution; 

research & development, responsible for product 

development, global product management, responsible 

for aligning practices within marketing and across divisions 

in: product management, marketing communication and 

clinical education; sales & marketing responsible for sales and 

marketing through the subsidiaries. 

2. adoption of new 
and revised standards

2.1  standards and interpretations effective in the 

current and prior periods

the Consolidated financial statements are presented in 

accordance with the new and revised standards (ifrs / 

ias) and new interpretations (ifriC), applicable in the year 

2012. management believes that those new and revised 

ifrs standards do not have material effect on amounts 

reported in the Consolidated financial statements.  

2.2 standards not yet effective

the Company has not early adopted new and revised 

ifrs's that have been issued but are not yet effective. 

management believes that implementation of those 

standards and interpretations do not have a material effect 

on the Consolidated financial statements of the Company.  

3. summary of significant 
accounting policies

3.1 statement of compliance

the Consolidated financial statements have been 

prepared in accordance with international financial 

reporting standards (ifrs) as adopted by the Eu 

and additional danish disclosure requirements for 

Consolidated financial statements for listed companies. 

the financial statements are presented in usd, which is 

the Company´s functional currency.  

 

3.2 basis of preparation

the Consolidated financial statements have been 

prepared under the historical cost basis except for certain 

financial instruments that are measured at fair values, as 

explained in the accounting policies below.  historical cost 

is generally based on the fair value of the consideration 

given in exchange for assets. the accounting policies 

adopted are consistent with those followed in the 

preparation of the Company's annual financial 

statements for the period ended 31 december 2011.

3.3 basis of consolidation

the Consolidated financial statements incorporate 

the financial statements of the Company and entities 

controlled by the Company (its subsidiaries).  Control is 

achieved where the Company has the power to govern the 

financial and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain 

benefits from its activities.

the results of subsidiaries acquired during the year are 

included in the Consolidated income statement from 

the effective date of acquisition as appropriate. total 

comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed to the 

owners of the Company and to the non-controlling interests 

even if this results in the non-controlling interests having 

a deficit balance. where necessary, adjustments are made 

to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their 

accounting policies into line with those used by other 

members of the Company.

all intra-group transactions, balances, income and 

expenses are eliminated in full on consolidation.

3.4 business combination

acquisitions of subsidiaries and businesses are accounted 

for using the acquisition (purchase) method. the cost of 

the business combination is measured as the aggregate 

of the fair values (at the date of exchange) of assets given, 

liabilities incurred or assumed and equity instruments 

issued by the Company in exchange for control of the 

acquiree. acquisition-related costs are recognized in profit 

or loss as incurred.

nOtEs tO thE COnsOlidatEd finanCial statEmEnts
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the acquiree's identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent 

liabilities that meet the conditions for recognition under 

ifrs 3 are recognized at their fair value at the acquisition 

date, except that:   

• deferred tax assets or liabilities and liabilities or 

assets related to employee benefit arrangements 

are recognized and measured in accordance with 

ias 12 income taxes and ias 19 Employee benefits 

respectively;    

• liabilities or equity instruments related to share-

based payment arrangements of the acquiree or 

share-based payment arrangements of the Company 

entered into to replace share-based payment 

arrangements of the acquiree are measured in 

accordance with ifrs 2 share-based payment at the 

acquisition date;   

• assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as 

held for sale in accordance with ifrs 5 non-current 

assets held for sale and discontinued Operations 

are measured in accordance with that standard. 

     

goodwill arising on acquisition is recognized as an asset 

and initially measured at cost, being the excess of the 

purchase price of the business combination over the 

Company's interest in the net fair value of the identifiable 

assets, liabilities, contingent liabilities, the amount of 

any non-controlling interests in the acquiree, and the fair 

value of the acquirer´s previously held equity interest in 

the acquiree (if any) recognized. if, after reassessment, 

the Company's interest in the net fair value of the 

acquiree's identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent 

liabilities exceeds the cost of the business combination, 

the excess is recognized immediately in profit or loss. 

 

when the consideration transferred by the Company 

in a business combination includes assets or liabilities 

resulting from a contingent consideration arrangement, 

the contingent consideration is measured at its 

acquisition-date fair value and included as part of the 

consideration transferred in a business combination. 

Changes in the fair value of the contingent consideration 

that qualify as measurement period adjustments are 

adjusted retrospectively, with corresponding adjustments 

against goodwill. measurement period adjustments 

are adjustments that arise from additional information 

obtained during the ‘measurement period’ about facts and 

circumstances that existed at the acquisition date.  

    

if the initial accounting for a business combination is 

incomplete by the end of the reporting period in which 

the combination occurs, the Company reports provisional 

amounts for the items for which the accounting is 

incomplete. those provisional amounts are adjusted 

during the measurement period (see below), or additional 

assets or liabilities are recognized, to reflect new 

information obtained about facts and circumstances that 

existed at the acquisition date that, if known, would have 

affected the amounts recognized at that date.   

    

the subsequent accounting for changes in the fair value 

of the contingent consideration that do not qualify as 

measurement period adjustments depends on how 

the contingent consideration is classified. Contingent 

consideration that is classified as equity is not remeasured 

at subsequent reporting dates and its subsequent 

settlement is accounted for within equity. Contingent 

consideration that is classified as an asset or a liability is 

remeasured at subsequent reporting dates in accordance 

with ias 39, or ias 37 provisions, Contingent liabilities and 

Contingent assets, as appropriate, with the corresponding 

gain or loss being recognized in profit or loss.   

   

when a business combination is achieved in stages, the 

Company's previously held equity interest in the acquiree 

is remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date (i.e. 

the date when the Company obtains control) and the 

resulting gain or loss, if any, is recognized in profit or loss. 

amounts arising from interests in the acquiree prior to the 

acquisition date that have previously been recognized in 

other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or 

loss where such treatment would be appropriate if that 

interest were disposed of.    

    

the measurement period is the period from the date of 

acquisition to the date the Company obtains complete 

information about facts and circumstances that existed as 

of the acquisition date – and is subject to a maximum of 

one year.      

 

3.5 investments in associates 

 

an associate is an entity over which the Company has 

significant influence and that is neither a subsidiary nor 

an interest in a joint venture. significant influence is the 

power to participate in the financial and operating policy 

decisions of the investee but is not control or joint control 

over those policies.     

    

the results, assets and liabilities of associates are 

incorporated in the Consolidated financial statements 

using the equity method of accounting. under the equity 

method, investments in associates are initially recognized in 

the balance sheet and adjusted for post-acquisition changes 

in the Company's share of the net assets of the associate, 

less any impairment in the value of individual investments. 

losses of an associate in excess of the Company's interest 

in that associate are recognized only to the extent that the 

Company has incurred legal or constructive obligations or 

made payments on behalf of the associate.  

    

any excess of the cost of acquisition over the Company's 

share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets, 

liabilities and contingent liabilities of the associate 
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recognized at the date of acquisition is recognized as 

goodwill. the goodwill is included within the carrying 

amount of the investment and is assessed for impairment 

as part of that investment. any excess of the Company's 

share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets, 

liabilities and contingent liabilities over the cost of 

acquisition, after reassessment, is recognized immediately 

in profit or loss.     

    

where a group entity transacts with an associate of the 

Company, profits and losses are eliminated to the extent 

of the Company's interest in the relevant associate.  

    

3.6 goodwill     

   

goodwill arising in a business combination represents the 

excess of the purchase price over the Company's interest 

in the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and 

contingent liabilities of the subsidiary or jointly controlled 

entity recognized at the date of acquisition. goodwill is 

initially recognized as an asset at cost and is subsequently 

measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses.  

     

goodwill is not amortized but is reviewed for impairment 

at least annually. for the purpose of impairment testing, 

goodwill is allocated to each of the Company's cash-

generating units expected to benefit from the synergies of 

the combination. Cash-generating units to which goodwill 

has been allocated are tested for impairment annually, 

or more frequently when there is an indication that the 

unit may be impaired. if the recoverable amount of the 

cash-generating unit is less than its carrying amount, the 

impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying 

amount of any goodwill allocated to the unit and then to 

the other assets of the unit pro-rata on the basis of the 

carrying amount of each asset in the unit. any impairment 

loss for goodwill is recognized directly in profit or loss in 

the Consolidated income statement. an impairment loss 

recognized for goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent 

period.      

    

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit, the 

attributable amount of goodwill is included in the 

determination of the profit or loss on disposal.  

    

the Company's policy for goodwill arising on the 

acquisition of an associate is described at 3.5 above.  

    

3.7 revenue recognition

 

revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration 

received or receivable. revenue is reduced for estimated 

customer returns, rebates and other similar allowances. 

 

Sale of goodS

revenue from the sale of goods is recognized when all the 

following conditions are satisfied; the Company has transferred 

to the buyer the significant risks and rewards of ownership of 

the goods, the Company retains neither continuing managerial 

involvement to the degree usually associated with ownership 

nor effective control over the goods sold, the amount of 

revenue can be measured reliably, it is probable that the 

economic benefits associated with the transaction will flow to 

the entity and the costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of 

the transaction can be measured reliably.   

   

RoyaltieS 

royalty revenue is recognized on an accrual basis in 

accordance with the substance of the relevant agreement. 

royalties determined on a time basis are recognized on a 

straight-line basis over the period of the agreement. royalty 

arrangements that are based on production, sales and other 

measures are recognized by reference to the underlying 

arrangement (provided that it is probable that the economic 

benefits will flow to the Company and the amount of revenue 

can be measured reliably).   

inteReSt Revenue and dividend   

interest income from a financial asset is recognized when 

it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the 

Company and the amount of income can be measured 

reliably. interest income is accrued on a time basis, by 

reference to the principal outstanding and at the effective 

interest rate applicable, which is the rate that exactly 

discounts estimated future cash receipts through the 

expected life of the financial asset to that asset's net 

carrying amount on initial recognition. dividend income 

from investments is recognized when the shareholder's 

right to receive payment has been established.  

    

3.8 leasing     

    

Operating lease payments are recognized as an expense 

on a straight-line basis over the lease term, except where 

another systematic basis is more representative of the 

time pattern in which economic benefits from the leased 

assets are consumed. Contingent rentals arising under 

operating leases are recognized as an expense in the 

period in which they are incurred.   

    

in the event that lease incentives are received to enter 

into operating leases, such incentives are recognized 

as a liability. the aggregate benefit of incentives is 

recognized as a reduction of rental expense on a straight-

line basis, except where another systematic basis is more 

representative of the time pattern in which economic 

benefits from the leased assets are consumed. 

 

3.9 foreign currencies

for the purpose of presenting Consolidated financial 

statements, the assets and liabilities of the Company's 

foreign operations are expressed in usd using exchange 

rates prevailing at the balance sheet date. income and 

expense items are translated at the average exchange 

rates for each month, unless exchange rates fluctuated 
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significantly during that period, in which case the 

exchange rates at the dates of the transactions are used. 

Exchange differences arising, if any, are classified as equity 

and transferred to the Company's translation reserve 

(attributed to non-controlling interests as appropriate). 

 

Exchange differences are recognized in the income 

statement in the period they occur, except for exchange 

difference related to hedging instruments that are 

designed as hedges of net investment in foreign 

operations. these exchange differences are included 

in the foreign currency translation reserve in Other 

Comprehensive income. such exchange differences are 

recognized in the income statement in the period which 

the foreign operations are disposed of.   

  

goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the 

acquisition of a foreign operation are treated as assets 

and liabilities of the foreign operation and translated at 

the closing rate. Exchange differences arising, if any, are 

recognized in equity.    

    

On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e. a disposal of 

the Company's entire interest in a foreign operation, or a 

disposal involving loss of control over a subsidiary that 

includes a foreign operation or a disposal involving loss 

of significant influence over an associate that includes 

a foreign operation) all of the exchange differences 

accumulated in equity in respect of that operation 

attributable to the owners of the Company are reclassified 

to profit or loss.     

    

in addition, in relation to a partial disposal of a subsidiary 

that does not result in the Company losing control over 

the subsidiary, the proportionate share of accumulated 

exchange differences are re-attributed to non-controlling 

interests and are not recognized in profit or loss. for all 

other partial disposals (i.e. partial disposals of associates 

that do not result in the Company losing significant 

influence), the proportionate share of the accumulated 

exchange differences is reclassified to profit or loss. 

  

3.10 borrowing costs    

  

all borrowing costs are recognized in profit or loss in the 

period in which they are incurred.   

 

3.11 share-based payments    

   

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and 

others providing similar services are measured at the fair 

value of the equity instruments at the grant date. details 

regarding the determination of the fair value of equity-

settled share-based transactions are set out in note 25. 

  

the fair value determined at the grant date of the equity-

settled share-based payments is expensed on a straight-

line basis over the vesting period, based on the Company's 

estimate of equity instruments that will eventually vest, 

with a corresponding increase in equity. at the end of each 

reporting period, the Company revises its estimate of the 

number of equity instruments expected to vest. the impact 

of the revision of the original estimates, if any, is recognized 

in profit or loss such that the cumulative expense reflects 

the revised estimate, with a corresponding adjustment to 

the equity-settled employee benefits reserve.  

3.12 taxation     

   

income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently 

payable and deferred tax.    

    

CuRRent tax     

the tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the 

period. taxable profit differs from net profit as reported in 

the Consolidated income statement because it excludes 

items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible 

in other periods and it further excludes items that are 

never taxable or deductible.  the consolidated Company's 

current tax liability is calculated using tax rates that apply 

for 2012 in each country.    

  

defeRRed tax    

deferred tax is recognized on temporary differences 

between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities 

in the Consolidated financial statements and the 

corresponding tax bases used in the computation 

of taxable profit. deferred tax liabilities are generally 

recognized for all taxable temporary differences. deferred 

tax assets are generally recognized for all deductible 

temporary differences to the extent that it is probable 

that taxable profits will be available against which those 

deductible temporary differences can be utilized. such 

deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognized if 

the temporary difference arises from goodwill or from the 

initial recognition (other than in a business combination) 

of other assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects 

neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit. 

deferred tax liabilities are recognized for taxable 

temporary differences associated with investments in 

subsidiaries and associates, except where the Company 

is able to control the reversal of the temporary difference 

and it is probable that the temporary difference will not 

reverse in the foreseeable future. deferred tax assets 

arising from deductible temporary differences associated 

with such investments and interests are only recognized 

to the extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient 

taxable profits against which to utilize the benefits of the 

temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in 

the foreseeable future.    

   

the carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at 

each balance sheet date and reduced to the extent that it 
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is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be 

available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered. 

   

deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax 

rates that are expected to apply in the period in which the 

liability is settled or the asset realized, based on tax rates 

(and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively 

enacted at the balance sheet date. the measurement 

of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax 

consequences that would follow from the manner in which 

the Company expects, at the reporting date, to recover or 

settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.  

    

deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there 

is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets 

against current tax liabilities and when they relate to 

income taxes levied by the same taxation authority and 

the Company intends to settle its current tax assets and 

liabilities on a net basis.    

    

in the preparation of the Consolidated financial 

statements, accumulated gains in inventories from 

intercompany transactions are eliminated. this has an 

effect on the income tax expenses of the consolidated 

companies, and an adjustment is included in the deferred 

tax asset. income tax expense is calculated in accordance 

with tax rates in the countries where the inventories are 

purchased. 

    

CuRRent and defeRRed tax foR the yeaR  

Current and deferred tax are recognized in profit or loss, 

except when they relate to items that are recognized in other 

comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case, 

the current and deferred tax are also recognized in other 

comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively. 

where current tax or deferred tax arises from the initial 

accounting for a business combination, the tax effect is 

included in the accounting for the business combination.  

3.13 property, plant and equipment  

 

property, plant and equipment are recognized as an 

asset when it is probable that future economic benefits 

associated with the asset will flow to the Company and the 

cost of the asset can be measured in a reliable manner. 

   

property, plant and equipment which qualify for recognition 

as an asset are initially measured at cost. 

the cost of a property, plant and equipment comprises its 

purchase price and any directly attributable cost of bringing 

the asset to working condition for its intended use.  

    

the depreciable amount of the asset is allocated on a 

straight-line basis over its useful life. the depreciation charge 

for each period is recognized as an expense. the estimated 

useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are 

reviewed at each balance sheet date, with the effect of any 

changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis. 

  

the gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement 

of an asset is determined as the difference between the 

sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and 

is recognized in the Consolidated income statement. 

     

3.14 intangible assets    

     

intangible aSSetS aCquiRed SepaRately 

intangible assets with finite useful life are reported at 

cost less accumulated amortization and accumulated 

impairment losses. amortization is allocated on a straight-

line basis over their estimated useful lives. the estimated 

useful life and amortization method are reviewed at the 

end of each balance sheet date, with the effect of any 

changes in estimate being accounted for on a prospective 

basis.  intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are 

carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses. 

inteRnally-geneRated intangible aSSetS - ReSeaRCh 

and development expendituRe

Expenditure on research activities is recognized as an 

expense in the period in which it is incurred.  

    

an internally-generated intangible asset arising from the 

Company's development is recognized only if all of the 

following conditions are met:  the technical feasibility 

of completing the intangible asset so that it will be 

available for use or sale; the intention to complete the 

intangible asset and use or sell it; the ability to use or sell 

the intangible asset; the intangible asset will generate 

probable future economic benefits; the availability 

of adequate technical, financial and other resources 

to complete the development and to use or sell the 

intangible asset and the ability to measure reliably the 

expenditure attributable to the intangible asset during its 

development.

    

the amount initially recognized for internally-generated 

intangible assets is the sum of the expenditure 

incurred from the date when the intangible asset first 

meets the recognition criteria listed above. where no 

internally-generated intangible asset can be recognized, 

development expenditure is charged to profit or loss in 

the period in which it is incurred.   

    

subsequent to initial recognition, internally-generated 

intangible assets are reported at cost less accumulated 

amortization and accumulated impairment losses, on the 

same basis as intangible assets acquired separately. 

   

intangible aSSetS aCquiRed in a buSineSS Combination 

intangible assets acquired in a business combination are 

identified and recognized separately from goodwill where 

they satisfy the definition of an intangible asset and their 

fair values can be measured reliably. the cost of such 

intangible assets is their fair value at the acquisition date.

ö
ss

u
r 

h
f.

 c
o

n
so

li
d

at
ed

 f
in

an
ci

al
 s

ta
te

m
en

ts
 2

01
2

58annual report 12



subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets 

acquired in a business combination are reported at 

cost less accumulated amortization and accumulated 

impairment losses, on the same basis as intangible assets 

acquired separately.     

 

deReCognition of intangible aSSetS   

an intangible asset is derecognized on disposal, or when 

no future economic benefits are expected from use or 

disposal. gains or losses arising from derecognition of 

an intangible asset, measured as the difference between 

the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the 

asset, are recognized in profit or loss when the asset is 

derecognized.  

3.15  impairment of tangible and intangible assets 

excluding goodwill    

    

at each balance sheet date, the Company reviews the 

carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets to 

determine whether there is any indication that those assets 

have suffered an impairment loss. if any such indication 

exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated 

in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if 

any). where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable 

amount of an individual asset, the Company estimates the 

recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which 

the asset belongs. where a reasonable and consistent basis 

of allocation can be identified, corporate assets are also 

allocated to individual cash-generating units, or otherwise 

they are allocated to the smallest group of cash-generating 

units for which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis 

can be identified.

    

intangible assets with indefinite useful lives and intangible 

assets not yet available for use are tested for impairment 

annually, and whenever there is an indication that the asset 

may be impaired.     

recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs 

to sell and value in use. in assessing value in use, the 

estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present 

value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current 

market assessments of the time value of money and the 

risks specific to the asset for which the estimates of future 

cash flows have not been adjusted.   

   

if the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating 

unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the 

carrying amount of the asset (cash-generating unit) is 

reduced to its recoverable amount. an impairment loss is 

recognized immediately in profit or loss.   

   

3.16  inventories     

   

inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realizable 

value. Costs, including an appropriate portion of fixed and 

variable overhead expenses, are assigned to inventories 

held by the method most appropriate to the particular class 

of inventory, with the majority being valued on a standard 

cost basis. net realizable value represents the estimated 

selling price for inventories less all estimated costs of 

completion and costs necessary to make the sale.   

     

3.17 provisions    

 

provisions are recognized when the Company has 

a present obligation as a result of a past event, it is 

probable that the Company will be required to settle the 

obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the 

amount of the obligation.    

 

the amount recognized as a provision is the best estimate 

of the consideration required to settle the present 

obligation at the balance sheet date, taking into account 

the risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. 

where a provision is measured using the cash flows 

estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying 

amount is the present value of those cash flows.  

    

when some or all of the economic benefits required to 

settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a third 

party, the receivable is recognized as an asset if it is virtually 

certain that reimbursement will be received and the amount 

of the receivable can be measured reliably. 

WaRRantieS    

provisions for expected warranty costs are recognized 

at the date of sale of the relevant products, at the 

management best estimate of the expenditure required to 

settle the Company's obligation.   

 

3.18 risK management    

    

financial risk management is governed by the Company's 

financial risk management policy, approved by the board 

of directors. the policy sets limits to the extent of financial 

risks and guidelines for financial transactions in general. 

the general policy is to apply natural currency hedging to 

the extent possible and prohibit any speculative trading of 

financial instruments.     

    

long term financing is managed from the Company's 

Corporate finance function and individual subsidiaries do 

not engage in substantial external financing contracts with 

banks and/or credit institutions.    

   

the Company is outset for normal business risk in 

collecting accounts receivable. adequate allowance is 

made for bad debt expenses.     

3.19 financial assets

    

financial assets are recognized when the Company becomes 

a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.
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financial assets are initially measured at fair value. 

transaction costs that are directly attributable to the 

acquisition or issue of financial assets (other than 

financial assets at fair value through profit or loss) are 

added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial 

assets, as appropriate, on initial recognition. transaction 

costs directly attributable to the acquisition of financial 

assets at fair value through profit or loss are recognized 

immediately in profit or loss.     

    

financial assets are classified into the following specified 

categories: financial assets as ‘at fair value through 

profit or loss’ (fvtpl) and ‘loans and receivables’. the 

classification depends on the nature and purpose of the 

financial assets and is determined at the time of initial 

recognition.     

    

effeCtive inteReSt method    

the effective interest method is a method of calculating the 

amortized cost of a debt instrument and of allocating interest 

income over the relevant period. the effective interest rate is 

the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts 

(including all fees on points paid or received that form an 

integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs 

and other premiums or discounts) through the expected 

life of the debt instrument or, where appropriate, a shorter 

period to the net carrying amount on initial recognition. 

    

income is recognized on an effective interest basis for debt 

instruments other than those financial assets classified as at 

fair value through profit or loss.  

finanCial aSSetS at faiR value thRough pRofit oR loSS 

financial assets are classified as at fair value through profit 

or loss where the financial asset is either held for trading or 

it is designated as at fair value through profit or loss. 

   

financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 

are stated at fair value, with any resultant gain or loss 

recognized in profit or loss. the net gain or loss recognized 

in profit or loss incorporates any dividend or interest earned 

on the financial asset.     

 

loanS and ReCeivableS    

account receivables, loans and other receivables that have 

fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in 

an active market are classified as loans and receivables. 

loans and receivables are measured at amortized cost 

using the effective interest method, less any impairment. 

interest income is recognized by applying the effective 

interest rate, except for short-term receivables when the 

recognition of interest would be immaterial.

 

impaiRment of finanCial aSSetS   

financial assets, other than those at fair value through 

profit or loss, are assessed for indicators of impairment 

at each balance sheet date. financial assets are impaired 

where there is objective evidence that, as a result of one or 

more events that occurred after the initial recognition of 

the financial asset, the estimated future cash flows of the 

investment have been impacted.   

    

for certain categories of financial assets, such as account 

receivables, assets that are assessed not to be impaired 

individually are subsequently assessed for impairment on 

a collective basis. Objective evidence of impairment for 

a portfolio of receivables could include the Company's 

past experience of collecting payments, an increase in 

the number of delayed payments in the portfolio past the 

Company's average credit period, as well as observable 

changes in national or local economic conditions that 

correlate with default on receivables.   

    

for financial assets carried at amortized cost, the amount 

of the impairment is the difference between the asset's 

carrying amount and the present value of estimated future 

cash flows, discounted at the financial asset's original 

effective interest rate.   

the carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by 

the impairment loss directly for all financial assets with the 

exception of accounts receivables, where the carrying amount 

is reduced through the use of an allowance account. when an 

accounts receivable is considered uncollectible, it is written 

off against the allowance account. subsequent recoveries 

of amounts previously written off are credited against the 

allowance account. Changes in the carrying amount of the 

allowance account are recognized in profit or loss.  

   

deReCognition of finanCial aSSetS   

the Company derecognizes a financial asset only when the 

contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or 

when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the 

risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity. 

On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference between 

the asset's carrying amount and the sum of the consideration 

received and receivable and the cumulative gain or loss that 

had been recognized in Other Comprehensive income and 

accumulated in equity is recognized in profit or loss.  

      

3.20 financial liabilities    

   

financial liabilities are recognized when the Company 

becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the 

instrument.  financial liabilities are classified as either 

financial liabilities at ‘fair value through profit and loss’ or 

‘other financial liabilities’. 

 

financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value. 

transaction costs that are directly attributable to the 

acquisition or issue of financial liabilities (other than 

financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss) 

are added to or deducted from the fair value of the 

financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. 

transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition 

of financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are 

recognized immediately in profit or loss.   
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finanCial liabilitieS at faiR value thRough pRofit oR loSS 

financial liabilities are classified as at fair value through 

profit or loss when the financial liability is either held for 

trading or it is designated as at fair value through profit or 

loss.      

   

financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 

are stated at fair value, with any gains or losses arising 

on remeasurement recognized in profit or loss. the net 

gain or loss recognized in profit or loss incorporates any 

interest paid on the financial liability and is included in 

the ‘other gains and losses’ line item in the income 

statement.     

 

otheR finanCial liabilitieS    

Other financial liabilities, including borrowings, are initially 

measured at fair value, net of transaction costs.   

    

Other financial liabilities are subsequently measured at 

amortized cost using the effective interest method, with 

interest expense recognized on an effective yield basis.  

     

the effective interest method is a method of calculating 

the amortized cost of a financial liability and of allocating 

interest expense over the relevant period. the effective 

interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated 

future cash payments through the expected life of the 

financial liability or, where appropriate, a shorter period to 

the net carrying amount on initial recognition.  

     

deReCognition of finanCial liabilitieS  

the Company derecognizes financial liabilities when, and 

only when, the Company's obligations are discharged, 

cancelled or they expire.    

    

3.21 derivative financial instruments  

    

the Company enters into a variety of derivative financial 

instruments to manage its exposure to interest rate and 

foreign exchange rate risk, including foreign exchange 

forward contracts and interest rate swaps. further details of 

derivative financial instruments are disclosed in note 32. 

    

derivatives are initially recognized at fair value at the date 

a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently 

remeasured to their fair value at each balance sheet 

date. the resulting gain or loss is recognized in profit or 

loss immediately unless the derivative is designated and 

effective as a hedging instrument, in which event the timing 

of the recognition in profit or loss depends on the nature 

of the hedge relationship. the Company designates certain 

derivatives as either hedges of cash flow of recognized 

liabilities or hedges of net investments in foreign 

operations.     

    

a derivative is presented as a non-current asset or a non-

current liability if the remaining maturity of the instrument 

is more than 12 months and it is not expected to be 

realized or settled within 12 months. Other derivatives are 

presented as current assets or current liabilities.  

   

hedge aCCounting    

the Company designates certain hedging instruments, 

which include derivatives and non-derivatives in respect 

of foreign currency risk and interest rate risk, as either 

cash flow hedges or hedges of net investment in foreign 

operations.     

   

at the inception of the hedge relationship the entity 

documents the relationship between the hedging 

instrument and hedged item, along with its risk 

management objectives and its strategy for undertaking 

various hedge transactions. furthermore, at the inception 

of the hedge and on an ongoing basis, the Company 

documents whether the hedging instrument that is used 

in a hedging relationship is highly effective in offsetting 

changes in fair values or cash flows of the hedged item.  

    

the hedging reserve within equity represents the 

cumulative portion of gains and losses on hedging 

instruments deemed effective in cash flow hedges. 

the cumulative deferred gain or loss on the hedging 

instrument is reclassified to profit or loss only when the 

hedged transaction affects the profit or loss, or is included 

as a basis adjustment to the non-financial hedged item, 

consistent with the relevant accounting policy.   

    

note 27 sets out details of the fair values of the derivative 

instruments used for hedging purposes. movements in 

the hedging reserve in equity are also detailed in the equity 

overview.      

  

hedgeS of net inveStmentS in foReign opeRationS 

any gain or loss on the hedging instrument relating to the 

effective portion of the hedge is recognized in equity in the 

foreign currency translation reserve.    

    

gains and losses deferred in the foreign currency 

translation reserve are recognized in profit or loss on 

disposal of the foreign operation.   

   

CaSh floW hedgeS    

the effective portion of changes in the fair value of 

derivatives, that are designated and qualify as cash flow 

hedges, is recognized in other comprehensive income 

and accumulated under the heading of hedging reserve. 

the gain or loss relating to the ineffective portion is 

recognized immediately in profit or loss, and is included 

in the ‘other financial expense / income' line item.

   

amounts previously recognized in other comprehensive 

income and accumulated in equity are reclassified to profit 

or loss in the periods when the hedged item is recognized 

in profit or loss, in the same line of the income statement 

as the recognized hedged item. however, when the 

hedged forecast transaction results in the recognition of 

a non-financial asset or a non-financial liability, the gains 
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and losses previously recognized in other comprehensive 

income and accumulated in equity are transferred from 

equity and included in the initial measurement of the cost 

of the non-financial asset or non-financial liability.

hedge accounting is discontinued when the Company 

revokes the hedging relationship, when the hedging 

instrument expires, is sold, terminated, exercised, or 

when it no longer qualifies for hedge accounting. any gain 

or loss recognized in other comprehensive income and 

accumulated in equity at that time remains in equity and 

is recognized when the forecast transaction is ultimately 

recognized in profit or loss. when a forecast transaction is 

no longer expected to occur, the gain or loss accumulated in 

equity is recognized immediately in the income statement. 

  

4. critical accounting Judgements and Key 
sources of estimation uncertainty 

  

in the application of the Company's accounting policies, 

which are described in note 3, management is required 

to make judgments, estimates and assumptions about 

the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not 

readily apparent from other sources.  the estimates and 

associated assumptions are based on historical experience 

and other factors that are considered to be relevant. actual 

results may differ from these estimates.   

     

the estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on 

an ongoing basis.  revisions to accounting estimates are 

recognized in the period in which the estimate is revised 

if the revision affects only that period or in the period of 

the revision and future periods if the revision affects both 

current and future periods.   

determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an 

estimation of the value in use of the cash-generating units to 

which goodwill has been allocated. the value in use calculation 

requires the entity to estimate the future cash flows expected 

to arise from the cash-generating unit and a suitable discount 

rate in order to calculate present value. details of impairment 

calculations are set out in note 16. 

as described at 3.13, the Company reviews the estimated 

useful lives of property, plant and equipment at the 

end of each balance sheet date.   

 

5. restatement of comparative figures 

     

an accounting error in the 2011 financial statements of 

a majority held subsidiary, which has annual sales of 

approximately usd 20 million, was discovered in 2012. 

össur invested in the company in q4 2010 and the 

company has been managed as an independent business 

unit operated by a co-owner. the cause of the accounting 

error was a control deficiency contributing to weaknesses in 

accounting processes resulting in a need to restate össur’s 

2011 consolidated financial statements. the restatement 

decreases sales in 2011 by usd 3 million and net profit by 

usd 2 million, equally distributed between quarters. össur 

has taken measures to address these control deficiencies. 

össur is also addressing certain payor-related insurance 

and compliance issues regarding the subsidiary that could 

have a financial impact on össur. management is assessing 

the likelihood and scope of exposure related to such issues.
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restatement of 2011 figures

 rePorted  adjUStment  reStated 
 2011   2011        2011

inCome Statement

net sales  401,325  (      3,000 ) 398,325 

Cost of goods sold (   152,255 )  (  152,255 )
 

Gross profit 249,070  (       3,000 ) 246,070 

Other income 2,103  2,103 

OpEx   (   188,773 )  (  188,773 )
   

Profit from operations 62,400  (       3,000 ) 59,400 

total financial income/(expenses) (     12,569 )  (    12,569 )

Profit before tax 49,831  (       3,000 ) 46,831 

income tax (     13,200 ) 977  (    12,223 )

net profit  36,631  (       2,023 ) 34,608 
          

Eps (us cent) 8.1  (         0.4 )  7.7 

Organic growth 5%  5%

lC growth  9%                       (         1% ) 8%
          

Ebitda  75,606  (     3,000 ) 72,606 

Ebitda ratio 19%                       (         1% ) 18%

BalanCe Sheet 31.12.2011

aSSetS 

non-current assets 437,427  977  438,404 

Current assets 144,564                        (      3,000 ) 141,564 

total assets 581,991  (       2,023 ) 579,968 
          

          

Equity   366,756                       (      2,023 ) 364,733 

non-current liabilities 132,832  0  132,832 

Current liabilities 82,403  0  82,403 

total equity and liabilities 581,991  (       2,023 ) 579,968 

          

equity ratio 63.0%  62.9%

the reclass does not affect cash or cashflow results.
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7. segment information

2012 ameriCaS emea aSia eliminationS ConSolidated

SaleS

External sales  207,999   169,932   21,506   0   399,437 

inter-segment sales  39,846   121,104   0   ( 160,950 )   0

total sales   247,845   291,037   21,506   ( 160,950 )  399,437   

the results from global functions including r&d, headquarters, global manufacturing and global marketing have been divided between the segments based on management assumptions.

reSUlt

segment result  20,379   31,260   5,137   0   56,776   

financial income/(expenses)         (    6,354 )

share in net profit of associated companies          456

profit before tax             50,878 

income tax         (  13,115 )

net profit          37,763 

BalanCe Sheet 31.12.2012  

segment assets     511,778      384,283   15,455   ( 320,353 )  591,163   

segment liabilities  187,483   217,119   6,522   ( 227,695 )  183,429  

other inFormation 2012

Capital additions  4,583   9,105   631   0   14,319  

depreciation and amortization  4,817   8,033   330   0   13,180    

the accounting policies of the reportable segments are the same as the Company's accounting policies described in note 3. segment profit represents the profit earned by each segment without allocation 

of financial income, financial expenses and income tax expense. this is the measure reported to the president and CEO for the purposes of resource allocation and assessment of segment performance.  
            

sales of approximately 25 million usd (2011: 24 million usd) arose from sales to the Company´s largest customer

6. net sales
specified according to product lines:

 2012 2011

bracing and support 208,255   208,142  

prosthetics 171,895   170,425  

Compression therapy (phlebology) 18,440   18,652  

Other products 847   1,106    

 399,437   398,325   
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2011   ameriCaS  emea aSia eliminationS ConSolidated

SaleS

External sales   206,729   173,341   18,255   0   398,325    

inter-segment sales  29,569   68,509   0   (   98,078 )  0    

total sales  236,298   241,850   18,255   (   98,078 )  398,325    

the results from global functions including r&d, headquarters, global manufacturing and global marketing have been divided between the segments based on management 

assumptions. this is a change from allocating it according to geographical location of the global function.        

     

reSUlt

segment result  21,897   32,737   4,766   0   59,400    

financial income/(expenses)         (  12,673 )

share in net profit of associated companies          104

profit before tax          46,831  

income tax         (  12,223 )

net profit          34,608 

BalanCe Sheet 31.12.2011

segment assets   465,631   372,084   11,185   ( 268,932 )  579,968  

segment liabilities   166,702       244,778   5,113   ( 201,358 )  215,235 

other inFormation 2011

Capital additions  5,326   10,677   140   0   16,143   

depreciation and amortization  3,890   9,031   285   0   13,206  
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8. other income

included in other income 2012 are royalty income.  included in other income 2011 is gain 

from sale of an office building in alisio viejo, California, amounting to 1.2 million and 0.6 

million received when settling a patent infringement.    

         

9. salaries

salaries and salary-related expenses, paid by the Company, are specified as follows: 

       

 2012 2011

salaries 111,435  114,374 

salary-related expenses 26,520  28,156  

 137,955  142,530   

included in salary-related expense are pension related expenses amounting to 5.1 million 

(2011: 5.1 million).   

 

average number of positions 1,860  1,864 

salaries and salary-related expenses, classified by operational category, are specified as 

follows:        

 2012 2011

Cost of goods sold  37,184  40,356 

sales and marketing  63,565  66,283 

research and development 12,006  10,138 

general and administrative 25,200  25,753  

 137,955  142,530   

manaGement SalarieS and BeneFitS

 SalarieS StoCk ShareS
 and related exP.  oPtionS owned

Board oF direCtorS:

niels Jacobsen - Chairman of the board (i) 90  0  179,791,616 

Þórður magnússon - vice Chairman 54  0  1,456 

arne boye nielsen 36  0  0 

kristján tómas ragnarsson 36  0  623,789 

svafa grönfeldt 36  0  0  

(i)   shares owned by william demant invest a/s which niels Jacobsen represents on the 

board. niels and financially related parties own personally 193,405 shares. 
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2012 Fixed BaSe CaSh BaSed   other  Share BaSed total
 SalarY inCentive PenSion BeneFitS inCentive remUneration

exeCUtive manaGement   

Jón sigurðsson president and CEO(i) 927  224  0  175  115  1,441 

hjörleifur pálsson CfO(ii) 470  64  43  0  50  627 

Egill Jónsson Evp of m&O(iii) 296  51  36  0  50  433 

hilmar bragi Janusson Evp of r&d 298  44  28  0  0  370 

Þorvaldur ingvarsson Evp of r&d 135  0  11  0  44  190 

mahesh mansukhani presid. of s&m america 449  35  7  10  65  566 

ólafur gylfason man. director s&m EmEa 435  85  44  0  46  610 

   3,010  503  169  185  370  4,237 

2011 Fixed BaSe CaSh BaSed   other  Share BaSed total
 SalarY inCentive PenSion BeneFitS inCentive remUneration

exeCUtive manaGement   

Jón sigurðsson president and CEO(i) 900  398  0  147  46  1,491 

hjörleifur pálsson CfO(ii) 457  113  46  0  11  627 

Egill Jónsson Evp of m&O(iii) 288  98  39  0  11  436 

hilmar bragi Janusson Evp of r&d 319  94  33  0  11  457 

mahesh mansukhani presid. of s&m america 427  90  7  9  38  571 

ólafur gylfason man. director s&m EmEa 436  106  43  0  10  595 

   2,827  899  168  156  127  4,177  

(i) shares owned by Jón sigurðsson 341.168 (2011: 265.258), (ii) shares owned by hjörleifur pálsson 20.000 (2011: 0), (iii) shares owned by Egill Jónsson 822.749 (2011: 822.749).  
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10. fees to auditors

 2012 2011

audit of financial statements  748    832  

review of interim financial statements  245    178  

Other services  50    395   

  1,043     1,405   

11. financial income / (expenses)

financial income and (expenses) are specified as follows:

  2012   2011

FinanCial inCome:

interests on bank deposits  71    78 

Other financial income  82    146

  153   224

FinanCial exPenSeS:

interests on loans (    6,219 )  ( 10,172  )

Other financial expenses (       569 )  ( 673 )

 (    6,788 )  ( 10,845 )

net-exchange rate differences  281  (    2,052 )

net financial  income / (expenses) (    6,354 )  ( 12,673 )

12. income tax

 2012 2011

Current tax expenses (   6,120 ) ( 6,525 )

deferred tax expenses (   6,995 ) (   5,698 )

 ( 13,115 ) ( 12,223 )

  2012 2011
 amoUnt % amoUnt %

profit before taxes  50,878    46,831

income tax calculated at 20% ( 10,176 ) 20%  (   9,366 ) 20%  

Effect of different tax rates of other jurisdictions (   1,970 )  4%   (   1,307 )   3%   

Effect of non-deductible expenses (   1,061 )  2%   (   1,204 )   3% 

Other changes          92       0%  (      346 )  1%  

 ( 13,115 ) 26%  ( 12,223 ) 26%   

deferred tax:

 2012 2011

Origination and reversal of temporary differences (    6,991 ) (   5,269 ) 

write-downs (reversals of previous write-downs) of deferred tax assets  (       104 ) (      421 ) 

Effect of changes in tax rate  100 (          8 )  

 (    6,995 ) (   5,698 )  
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deferred tax balances:

   reCoGniSed in reCoGniSed aCqUiSitionS /  exC. rate 
 2012  1.1.2012 inCome Statement direCtlY in eqUitY diSPoSalS diFFerenCe 31.12.2012

goodwill    15,038   (    4,774 )                   4     10,268  

intangible assets    (    4,996 )        341                            (         32 )  (   4,687 )

Operating fixed assets           (       787 )  (       107 )                5                      (      889 )

tax loss carry forward             859   (       175 )                   4                 688 

inventories    1,624         137          (         18 )          1,743  

provisions          (       235 )  (       365 )                    2   (       598 ) 

Current liabilities    3,310   (    1,190 )                    3      2,123  

receivables           (       941 )        198          (           1 )  (       744 )

Other    2,069   (    1,060 )             (          44 )                  9     974   

total   15,941  (    6,995 )        (          44 ) 0                       (         24 )                       8,878

   reCoGniSed in reCoGniSed aCqUiSitionS /  exC. rate 
 2011  1.1.2011 inCome Statement direCtlY in eqUitY diSPoSalS diFFerenCe 31.12.2011

goodwill    18,941   (    3,931 )                   28   15,038   

intangible assets    (    4,796 )        211     (        582 )         171   (   4,996 )

Operating fixed assets           231   (       891 )    (        124 )   (           3 )         (      787 )

tax loss carry forward             730         121                     8                 859  

inventories    2,792   (       991 )    (        174 )      (           3 )  1,624   

provisions          1,341   (    1,577 )                     1   (      235 ) 

Current liabilities    3,157         152                      1     3,310   

receivables           (        954 )         13                      0    (       941 )

Other    1,038     1,195              (          56 )       (        108 )                      2,069

total                                        22,480   (   5,698 )             (          56 )  (        880 )                95                       15,941 

2011 figures are restated, see note 5.                

                 

2011 figures are restated, see note 5.  
2011 figures are restated, see note 5.  
2011 figures are restated, see note 5.
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13. earnings per share

 2012 2011

net profit 37,763  34,608 

   total weighted average number of ordinary 

shares (in thousands) 448,732  450,877 

   total average number of shares including 

potential shares from options (in thousands) 448,965  451,678 

basic Earnings per share (us cent) 8.4  7.7 

diluted Earnings per share (us cent) 8.4  7.7 

Cash Earnings per share 11.4  10.6 

diluted Cash Earnings per share 11.3  10.6 

2011 figures are restated, see note 5.

14. additional information regarding cash flow

  2012  2011

net profit    37,763   34,608 

items not affecting cash  22,143   21,154 

working capital provided by operating activities  59,906   55,762 

(increase) / decrease in inventories  (   3,476 ) (   6,401 )

(increase) / decrease in receivables  9,974  (   6,819 )

increase / (decrease) in payables  (   8,836 )  5,905 

net cash provided by operating activities  57,568   48,447 

2011 figures are restated, see note 5.ö
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15. property, plant and equipment

 BUildinGS maChinerY FixtUreS2012 & SiteS & eqUiPment & oFFiCe eqUiP. total

CoSt
at 1 January 2012  13,865   38,957   25,469   78,291 

additions  141   5,227   2,669   8,037 

acquired on acquisition of subsidiary  0   390   496   886 

Exchange rate differences  274   176   339   789 

Eliminated on disposal  (     125 )  (      366 )  (        44 )  (       535 )

fully depreciated assets  0   (   1,920 )  (   1,970 )  (    3,890 )

at 31 december 2012  14,155   42,464   26,959   83,578  

dePreCiation
at 1 January 2012  8,226   21,453   12,373   42,052 

Charge for the period  384   5,556   3,625   9,565 

acquired on acquisition of subsidiary  0   120   103   223 

Exchange rate differences  164   134   183   481 

Eliminated on disposal  (       40 )  (      296 )  (          6 )  (       342 )

fully depreciated assets  0   (   1,920 )  (   1,970 )  (    3,890 )

at 31 december 2012  8,734   25,047   14,308   48,089  
         

Carrying amount at 31 december 2012  5,421   17,417   12,651   35,489   

 BUildinGS maChinerY FixtUreS
2011 & SiteS & eqUiPment & oFFiCe eqUiP. total

CoSt
at 1 January 2011  14,107   34,680    20,801   69,588 

additions  218   6,293    6,593   13,104 

additions relating to previous acquisitions  0   340    0   340 

Exchange rate differences  (     460 )  (      531 )   (     449 )  (    1,440 )

Eliminated on disposal  0   (      479 )   (     572 )  (    1,051 )

fully depreciated assets  0   (   1,346 )   (     904 )  (    2,250 )

at 31 december 2011  13,865   38,957     25,469   78,291   

dePreCiation
at 1 January 2011      8,098   18,631    10,770   37,499 

Charge for the period         414   4,812    3,288   8,514 

Exchange rate differences   (     286 )  (      307 )  (     197 )  (      790 )

Eliminated on disposal   0   (      337 )   (     584 )  (      921 )

fully depreciated assets  0   (   1,346 )   (     904 )  (   2,250 )

at 31 december 2011  8,226   21,453     12,373   42,052    

Carrying amount at 31 december 2011  5,639   17,504     13,096       36,239   
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depreciation classified by operational category, is shown in the following schedule:

 2012 2011

Cost of goods sold  4,937  4,411 

sales and marketing expenses  705  621 

research and development expenses 662  584 

general and administrative expenses  3,261  2,898

 9,565  8,514  

the following useful lives are used in the calculation of depreciation:

buildings  20 - 50 years

fixtures & furniture  3 - 10 years

machinery & equipment   4 - 10 years

aSSetS PledGed aS SeCUritY

none of the Company's properties, plants and equipments are pledged. any major 

divestments are subject to bank approval.     

     

16. goodwill
 

 2012 2011

CoSt

at 1 January 333,484  339,153 

reclass due to previous acquisitions 

(purchase price allocation, ppa) 0  (   1,939 )

arising on acquisition of subsidiaries 10,235  0 

addition due to previous acquisitions 2,060  0 

Exchange rate differences 3,156  (   3,730 ) 

at 31 december 348,935  333,484 

the carrying amount of goodwill was allocated to the following cash-generating units:

 waCC % 31.12.2012 31.12.2011

americas 7.4 / 7.2 209,874  198,720 

americas recently acquired companies 7.2 / 7.0 15,750  14,325 

EmEa 7.6 / 7.8 120,162  117,323 

asia 7.8 / 7.8 3,149  3,116 

  348,935  333,484   

the recoverable amount of the cash-generating units is determined based on a value in 

use calculation which uses cash flow projections based on the financial forecast for 2013 

approved by management and the board of directors. the discount rate of 7.2 - 7.8% 

(2011: 7.0 - 7.8%) per annum was used.

Cash flow projections in the forecast are based on the same expected gross margins 

and raw materials prices throughout the period.  Cash flows beyond 2017 have been 

extrapolated using a steady 3% per annum growth rate.  this growth rate does not exceed 

the long-term average growth rate for the market in each market area.  management 

believes that any reasonably further change in the key assumptions on which recoverable 

amount is based would not cause the carrying amount to exceed its recoverable 

amount.         

 

at balance sheet date an intangible asset with indefinite useful life is allocated to the 

EmEa cash-generating unit amounting  to 14.7 million (2011: 14.4 million).  purchase 

price allocations of newly acquired companies have not been completed and will take 

place in 2013, this might result in a reclass from goodwill to other items in the balance 

sheet.         
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17. other intangible assets

 CUSt./diStriB.    SoFtware and2012 relationShiPS PatentS trademarkS other total

CoSt
at 1 January 2012  23,403   10,892   15,438   13,739   63,472 

additions  324   72   0   2,072   2,468 

additions - internally generated  0   0   0   3,814   3,814 

acquired on acquisition of subsidiary  0   165   0   0   165 

fully depreciated assets  0   (  6,360 )  0   (   1,749 )  (    8,109 )

Exchange rate differences  338   37   388   75   838  

at 31 december 2012  24,065   4,806   15,826   17,951   62,648   

amortization
at 1 January 2012  12,394   10,172   593   10,392   33,551 

Charge for the period  2,387   256   0   972   3,615 

fully depreciated assets  0   (  6,360 )  0   (   1,749 )  (    8,109 )

Exchange rate differences  230   72   115   38   455 

at 31 december 2012  15,011   4,140   708   9,653   29,512   

Carrying amount at 31 december 2012 9,054   666   15,118   8,298   33,136   

 CUSt./diStriB.    SoFtware and2011 relationShiPS PatentS trademarkS other total

CoSt          

at 1 January 2011  22,299   12,071   15,598   10,653   60,621 

reclassification from goodwill  1,595   0   407   0   2,002 

additions  0   262   0   1,927   2,189 

additions - internally generated  0   0   0   850   850 

fully depreciated assets  0   (  1,400 )  0   (        54 )  (    1,454 )

Exchange rate differences  (     491 )  (       41 )  (      567 )  363   (       736 )

at 31 december 2011  23,403   10,892   15,438   13,739   63,472  

amortization          

at 1 January 2011  10,247   10,247   583   9,569   30,646 

Charge for the period  2,502   1,359   35   796   4,692 

fully depreciated assets  0   (  1,400 )  0   (       54 )  (   1,454 )

Exchange rate differences  (     355 )  (       34 )  (        25 )  81   (      333 )

at 31 december 2011  12,394   10,172   593   10,392   33,551 

Carrying amount at 31 december 2011  11,009   720   14,845   3,347   29,921  
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amortization classified by operational category, is shown in the following schedule:

 2012 2011

Cost of goods sold 47  25 

sales and marketing expenses 2,498  2,719 

research and development expenses 336  1,409 

general and administrative expenses 734  539 

 3,615  4,692 

part of the intangible assets included above have finite useful lives, over which the assets are 

amortized. these intangible assets will be amortized on a straight line basis over their 

useful lives. 

the following useful lives are used in the calculation of amortisation.

Customer and distribution relationships  4 - 10 years

patents  5 - 50 years

trademarks  3 - infinitive

software and other  3 - 10 years

the gibaud trademarks amounting to usd 14.7 million (2011: 14.4 million) are esti-

mated to have infinitive life.  the trademark has been well established within the french 

market since the foundation of the company in 1890.  
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18. the consolidation

the Consolidation is split into three geographical segments, americas, EmEa and asia.  the main operation is carried out in the following companies:

 PlaCe oF reGiStration 
name oF SUBSidiarY  and oPeration ownerShiP %    PrinCiPal aCtivitY 

ameriCaS  

össur americas, inc. usa 100% sales, r&d, distribution and services    

össur Canada, inc. Canada 100% manufacturer, sales, distribution and services

össur mexico s. de r.l. de C.v. mexico 100%    manufacturer

emea   

össur Europe bv netherlands 100%    sales, distribution and services    

gibaud sas france 100%    manufacturer, sales, distribution and services   

össur nordic ab sweden 100%    sales, distribution and services    

össur uk ltd uk 100%    sales, distribution and services    

össur deutschland gmbh germany 100%    sales, distribution and services    

össur iberia sa spain 100%    sales, distribution and services    

össur south africa (pty) ltd south africa 100%    sales, distribution and services    

aSia     

össur asia pacific pty, ltd. australia 100%    sales, distribution and services  

össur prosth. & rehabilit. Co, ltd. China 100%    sales, distribution and services  

össur hong kong, ltd hong kong 100%    sales, distribution and services    

 

the Consolidation is financed through two companies, össur americas lp and össur finance ag.          
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19. other financial assets

  31.12.2012 31.12.2011

investment in associates  4,144 2,986 

restricted cash   1,180 1,273

loans and receivables 1,500 2,550 

   6,824    6,809

inveStmentS in aSSoCiateS

the Company has invested 30-50% of shares in associated companies located in france 

and usa. the principal activities of those companies are manufacturing and distribution. 

  2012 2011

at 1 January 2,986  20 

additions due to acquisitions 1,050  2,830 

share in net profit (net of dividend received) 108  61 

Exchange differences 0  75

at 31 december   4,144 2,986

20. inventories

  31.12.2012 31.12.2011

raw material  14,275  12,840 

work in progress  2,632  2,762 

finished goods   39,850  36,569 

  56,757  52,171  

inventories of 2.8 million (2011: 1.7 million) are expected to be sold or used in production 

after more than twelve months.      
    

in the preparation of the Consolidated financial statements, accumulated gains in 

inventories from intercompany transactions amounting to 10.7 million (2011: 10.1 

million) were eliminated.  this has an effect on the income tax expense of the consolidated 

companies, and an adjustment of 3.2 million (2011: 3.2 million) is made in the 

Consolidated financial statements to reduce income tax expense to account for this. 
         

the cost of inventories recognized as an expense includes 2.1 million (2011: 2.5 million) 

in respect of write-downs of inventory to net realizable value.  reserve for obsolete 

inventories at year end is 4.9 million compared to 4.6 million in 2011.   

       

21. accounts receivables

  31.12.2012 31.12.2011

nominal value  55,612   55,049  

allowances for doubtful accounts (   1,886 )  (    1,419 )

allowances for sales return (   1,060 )  (   1,081 )

  52,666   52,549 

the average credit period on sales of goods is 40 days (2011: 40 days). allowance has 

been made for doubtful accounts and sales returns, this allowance has been determined 

by management in reference to past default experience. management considers that the 

carrying amount of receivables approximates their fair value.     

      

aGinG oF aCCoUntS reCeivaBleS

  31.12.2012 31.12.2011

less than three months  49,963 50,704 

three to six months  3,300   2,222 

six to nine months  589   202 

Older than nine months  1,760   1,921  

  55,612   55,049  

movement in the allowanCe For doUBtFUl aCCoUntS

  2012 2011

at 1 January  (  1,419 )  (  1,619 )

impairment (losses)/gains recognized on receivables  (     712 )  (       52 )

amounts written off as uncollectible   266  237 

Exchange rate difference  (       21 )  15 

at 31 december (  1,886 )  (  1,419 )

in determining the recoverability of an accounts receivable, the Company considers any 

change in the credit quality of the accounts receivable from the date credit was initially 

granted up to the reporting date. the concentration of credit risk is limited due to the 

customer base being large and unrelated. accordingly, management believe that there is 

no further credit provision required in excess of the allowance for doubtful debts.  within 

accounts receivables are 4.6 million (2011: 3.6) with more than 30 days past due of which 

2.6 million (2011: 2.1) is considered recoverable.

         

 

2011 figures are restated, see note 5. 
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22. other assets

  31.12.2012 31.12.2011

vat refundable  2,398   2,349 

prepaid expenses  4,583   4,285 

taxes receivable  319   4,490 

receivable from sale of fixed assets  0   2,412 

Other  1,613   3,652

  8,913   17,188 

23. banK balances and cash

  31.12.2012 31.12.2011

bank accounts 19,123  16,817 

bankers draft received 2,738  2,778 

Cash and other cash equivalents 17  61  

 21,878  19,656  

24. issued capital

Common stock is as follows in millions of shares and usd thousands:

 ShareS nominal
  valUe

total share capital at 31 december 2012 453,750  5,068 

treasury shares at period-end (      5,018 ) (        44 )

 448,732       5,024 

total shares issued at balance sheet date are 453,750,008. the nominal value of each 

share is one icelandic króna.   

 

 Share Share iSSUed
 CaPital PremiUm CaPital

balance at 1 January 2011 5,068 196,929  201,997 

purchased treasury shares                            (        44 ) (     8,162 )  (     8,206 )

balance at 1 January and 31 december 2012 5,024 188,767 193,791 

25. reserves

25.1 employee share option plan

the following share-based payment arrangements were in existence at balance sheet date:

     Fair valUe
  Grant/  exerCiSe at Grant
 nUmBer oF iSSUe exerCiSe PriCe date
 ShareS Year Year (in dkk) (in dkk)

issued to Executive management:           

Jón sigurðsson president and CEO 1,250,000  2012  2015   8.6    8.8 

hjörleifur pálsson CfO 500,000  2012  2015   8.6    8.8 

Egill Jónsson Evp of m&O 500,000  2012  2015   8.6    8.8 

Þorvaldur ingvarsson Evp of r&d 500,000  2012  2015   8.6    8.8 

mahesh mansukhani president 

of s&m america 500,000  2012  2015   8.6    8.8 

ólafur gylfason man. director 

s&m EmEa 500,000  2012  2015   8.6    8.8 

 3,750,000         

issued to management team:     

five managers  500,000  2009  2013          4.4 - 5.3       5.3 - 5.5

One manager  100,000  2010  2014   5.7    5.7 

three managers  300,000  2011      2014 / 2015     7.9 - 9.5        7.9 - 9.5

twenty one managers  2,100,000  2012  2015   8.7    8.8 

 3,000,000         

total issued option contracts 6,750,000         

the exercise price of each share option is determined by the average closing price on 

shares traded in the Omx Copenhagen stock exchange over the 20 trading days prior to 

the issue date. the employee must remain continuously employed with the Company 

until expiring date, either as an employee or in any other way, deemed satisfactory by the 

Company.  
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25.2 movements in shares options during the period 

the following reconciles the share options outstanding at the beginning and end of the period: 

        

 2012 2011
  weiGhted  weiGhted 
 nUmBer oF averaGe nUmBer oF averaGe 
 ShareS ContraCt ShareS ContraCt 
  rate (in dkk)  rate (in dkk)

Outstanding at beginning of period  3,300,000   6.6 6,290,000   7.1 

granted during period 5,850,000   8.6 300,000   8.7 

forfeited during period  (      100,000 )  10.7 (    500,000 ) 7.5 

Exercised during period (   2,300,000 )  6.5 ( 2,790,000 ) 7.8  

Outstanding at end of period 6,750,000    8.3 3,300,000   6.6 

25.3 share options exercised during the period 

the following share options were exercised during the period.    

     

issued to management team   1,800,000  23.2.2012 8.2 

issued to Executive team   500,000  15.8.2012 8.5  

     

share options issued to management team on 23 february 2008 vested on 23 february 

2012 and shares issued to Executive team on 15 July 2009 vested on 15 august 2012. the 

share options could not be exercised due to restrictions in the icelandic foreign Exchange 

act. the board decided to settle the contracts with the respective parties by cash payment 

equaling the difference of exercise price and market price.  the total payment amounted 

to usd 1.0 million. management aims to settle outstanding options with shares.   

        

25.4 costs due to share options

Estimated remaining cost due to the share option contracts are 1.8 million (2011: 0.4 

million).  an expense of 0.9 million (2011: 0.5 million) is recognized in the income 

statement for the period.       

   

         

 

26. borrowings

 31.12.2012 31.12.2011
 CUrrent non - CUrrent CUrrent  non - CUrrent

loans in usd 12,866  44,791  12,670  57,548 

loans in Eur 6,527  21,850  6,458  27,832 

revolver in usd 0  11,500  0  16,500 

revolver in Eur 0  4,616  0  6,472 

Other borrowings 961  985  1,828  1,761  

 20,354  83,742  20,956  110,113 

the maturity of the revolving credit facility is march 2016. the Company has classified the 

revolver as non-current liability as the intention is to use it for further growth of the Company.

      

aggregated maturities of borrowings are as follows:

   31.12.2012 31.12.2011

in 2013 / 2012 20,354  20,956 

in 2014 / 2013 20,498  19,913 

in 2015 / 2014 19,544  20,425 

in 2016 / 2015 43,700  42,655 

in 2017 / 2016 0  27,120  

 104,096  131,069  

   

27. other financial liabilities

at balance sheet date, two interest rate swap agreements are effective, with a negative 

value of 2.2 million (2011 2.2 million).      

   

nUmBer 
exerCiSed

exerCiSe 
date

Share PriCe 
at exerCiSe 
date (in dkk)
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28. deferred tax asset / (liability)

 31.12.2012 31.12.2011

at beginning of period 15,941  22,480 

income tax payable for the period 6,120  6,525 

Calculated tax for the period (  13,115 ) ( 12,223 )

arising on acquisition of a subsidiary 0  (      880 )

recognized directly through equity (         44 ) (        56 )

Exchange rate differences (         24 ) 95

 8,878  15,941  

deferred tax in the balance sheet:

deferred tax asset 26,565  31,951  

deferred tax liabilities (   17,687 ) ( 16.010 )

 8,878  15,941 

the following are the major deferred tax liabilities and assets recognised:

31.12.2012 aSSetS liaBilitieS net

goodwill 22,400   ( 12,132 )  10,268 

intangible assets 784   (   5,471 )  (   4,687 )

Operating fixed assets 217   (   1,106 )  (      889 )

tax loss carry forward 688   0   688 

inventories 1,743   0   1,743 

provisions 0   (      598 )  (      598 )

Current liabilities 2,473   (      350 )  2,123 

receivables 329   (   1,073 )  (      744 )

Other 1,070   (        96 )  974    

total tax assets / (liabilities) 29,704   ( 20,826 )  8,878  

tax asset and liabilities offsetting (   3,139 )  3,139   0   

 26,565   ( 17,687 )  8,878    

31.12.2011 aSSetS liaBilitieS net

goodwill 25,131   ( 10,093 )  15,038 

intangible assets 835   (   5,831 )  (  4,996 )

Operating fixed assets 164   (      951 )  (     787 )

tax loss carry forward 859   0   859 

inventories 1,711   (        87 )  1,624 

provisions 0   (      235 )  (     235 )

Current liabilities 3,310   0   3,310 

receivables 330   (   1,271 )  (     941 )

Other 2,103   (        34 )  2,069     

total tax assets / (liabilities) 34,443   ( 18,502 )  15,941   

tax asset and liabilities offsetting (    2,492 )  2,492   0    

 31,951   ( 16,010 )  15,941    

2011 figures are restated, see note 5.

29. provisions

 31.12.2012 31.12.2011
 CUrrent non - CUrrent CUrrent  non - CUrrent

warranty (i) 2,589  4,591  2,686  4,339    

Other 2,173  247  948  154    

 4,762  4,838  3,634  4,493  

(i) the warranty provision represents management’s best estimate of the Company’s 

liability under warranties granted on prosthetics products, based on past 

experience. 
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              warrantY                other
     ProviSionS ProviSionS total

at 1 January 2011  5,763   1,537        7,300 

additional provision recognized  4,814   114        4,928 

utilization of provision  (    3,552 )  (      527 )  (    4,079 )

Exchange differences  0   (        22 )  (         22 )

at 31 december 2011  7,025   1,102        8,127  

additional provision recognised  3,091        1,859        4,950  

utilization of provision  (    2,936 )  (      556 )  (    3,492 )

Exchange differences  0             15             15 

balance at 31 december 2012  7,180   2,420        9,600  
  

non-current  4,591     247         4,838  

Current  2,589  2,173   4,762  

balance at 31 december 2012  7,180   2,420   9,600  

30. related party transactions

the Company had no material transactions with related parties during the period.

31. other liabilities

 31.12.2012 31.12.2011

accrued expenses 7,327  7,452 

accrued royalties 1,052  1,536 

sales tax and vat 2,110  1,816 

payable due to previous acquisition 2,324  2,324 

Other 2,301  2,273 

 15,114  15,401  

32. financial instruments

32.1 capital risK management

the Company manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Company will be able to 

continue as a going concern while maximizing the return to stakeholders through the 

optimization of the debt and equity balance. the Company's overall strategy remains 

unchanged from 2011.       

   

the capital structure of the Company consists of debt, which includes the borrowings 

disclosed in note 26, cash and cash equivalents and equity attributable to equity holders 

of the parent, comprising issued capital, reserves and retained earnings as disclosed in 

the equity overview.        

  

net deBt to eBitda ratio

the Company's management continuously reviews the capital structure. as a part of this 

review, the management considers, amongst other, the cost of capital and net debt to 

Ebitda.         

 

the net debt to Ebitda at period end was as follows:

 31.12.2012 31.12.2011

net debt  82,218  111,413 

Ebitda  69,956  72,606 

net debt/Ebitda 1.2 1.5

32.2 significant accounting polices

details of the significant accounting policies and methods adopted, including the criteria 

for recognition, the basis of measurement and the basis on which income and expenses 

are recognized, in respect of each class of financial asset, financial liability and equity 

instrument are disclosed in note 3 to the Consolidated financial statements.  

 

32.3 financial risK management obJectives

the Company's Corporate finance function provides services to the business, co-ordinates 

access to domestic and international financial markets, monitors and manages the financial 

risks relating to the operations of the Company through internal risk reports which analyze 

exposures by degree and magnitude of risks. these risks include liquidity risk, interest rate 

risk, foreign exchange risk and counterparty credit risk.    

     

the general policy is to apply natural hedging to the extent possible and prohibit any 

speculative trading of financial instruments. the use of financial derivatives is governed 

by the Company's policies approved by the board of directors, which provide written 

principles on foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk, credit risk, the use of financial 

derivatives and non-derivative financial instruments and the investment of excess 

liquidity. the Company does not enter into or trade financial instruments, including 

derivative financial instruments, for speculative purposes.    
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32.4 foreign currency risK management

the Company operates on a global market, hence exposure to exchange rate fluctuations 

arise. Exchange rate exposures are managed within approved policy parameters. the 

general policy is to apply natural exchange rate hedging to the extent possible.

the carrying amounts of the Company's foreign currency denominated monetary assets 

and monetary liabilities at the reporting date are as follows:    

        

 liaBilitieS aSSetS

 31.12.2012 31.12.2011 31.12.2012 31.12.2011

usd  96,981  123,672  45,588  49,893 

Eur  49,091  59,025  29,972  31,019 

gbp  1,861  1,483  3,921  3,935 

sEk  2,448  2,612  2,510  2,612 

Cad  489  477  1,550  1,759 

Other  5,271  3,829  6,740  6,984  

 156,142  191,098  90,281  96,202   

ForeiGn CUrrenCY SenSitivitY analYSiS

the Company is mainly exposed to the currency of iceland (isk) and the Eurozone (Eur).

the following table details the Company's sensitivity to a 10% decrease in usd against 

the relevant foreign currencies with all other variables fixed. the sensitivity analysis 

includes all foreign currency denominated items and adjusts their translation at the 

period end for a 10% change in foreign currency rates. the table below indicates the 

effect on profit or loss and other equity where usd weakens 10% against the relevant 

currency. for a 10% strengthening of usd against the relevant currency, there would be 

an equal and opposite impact on the profit or loss and other equity.   

       

                                                                           eUr (i)                                         iSk (i i)

                                                              2012                     2011                     2012 2011          
profit or loss  2,163   2,487   ( 2,446 )  ( 2,264 )
Other equity  12,734   11,283   (    146 )  (      10 )

(i) 25% (2011: 25%) of the Company's operating cost is in Eur against 29% (2011: 31%) 

of its income causing an increase in profit if the usd decreases against the Eur.

(ii) 10% (2011: 9%) of the Company's operating cost is in isk against 0.4% (2011: 0.3%) 

of its income causing a decrease in profits if the usd decreases against the isk.

32.5 interest rate risK management

the Company is exposed to interest rate risk as funds are borrowed at floating interest 

rates. interest rate risk is managed by the Corporate finance function by maintaining an 

appropriate mix between fixed and floating rate borrowings, by the use of interest rate swap 

contracts. hedging activities are evaluated regularly to align with interest rate views and 

defined risk appetite; ensuring optimal hedging strategies are applied.   

       

the Company's exposures to interest rates on financial assets and financial liabilities are 

detailed in the liquidity risk management section of this note.    

      

Contracts made to swap floating interest rates to fixed with an average weighted interest 

rate of 2.60% for periods up to march 2016 are outstanding at year end with nominal values 

of usd 61 million (2011: usd 58 million). at year end the fair value of the swaps amounted 

to negative usd 2.2 million (2011: negative usd 2.2 million). the fair value of the interest 

rate swaps at the reporting date is determined by the present value of the expected future 

cash flows. Changes in fair value are realized through equity. the interest swaps are the 

Company's sole derivative financial liability valued at fair value and belong to level 2 in the 

fair value hierarchy in accordance to ifrs's 7.27a.       

32.6 liquidity risK management

the Company manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate reserves, banking 

facilities and reserve borrowing facilities, by monitoring forecast and actual cash flows 

and matching the maturity profiles of financial assets and liabilities. at period end the 

Company had undrawn revolving credit facilities at its disposal amounting to usd 95.6 

million (2011: usd 88.2 million) to further reduce liquidity risk.

the following tables detail the Company's remaining contractual maturity for its non-

derivative financial liabilities. the tables have been drawn up based on the undiscounted 

cash flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which the Company can be 

required to pay. the table includes both interest and principal cash flows.
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                  weiGhted 
 averaGe  leSS
 eFFeCtive  than
 intereSt 1 Year 1–5 YearS 5+ YearS total

2012

borrowings  5.11% 26,396  93,698  0  120,094 

non-interest bearing liabilities  – 49,648  19,187  0  68,835  

  76,044  112,885  0  188,929   

2011

borrowings  6.65% 30,773  128,576  0  159,349 

non-interest bearing liabilities  – 53,962  19,377  0  73,339  

  84,735  147,953  0  232,688    

32.7 credit risK management

the Company's counterparty credit risks arise mainly from short-term investment of 

liquid assets and the market-to-market effect of interest rate swaps.

the Company reviews the credit quality of counterparties. the Company's policy is 

that all counterparties have at least an a3 credit rating from moody's or a minus from 

standard & poor's.

the Company does not undertake any trading activity in financial instruments.

accounts receivables consist of a large number of customers spread across geographical 

areas. Ongoing credit evaluation is performed on the financial condition of accounts 

receivable.

32.8 fair value of financial instruments carried at amortized cost

Except as detailed in the following table, management considers that the carrying 

amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities recognized in the Consolidated 

financial statements approximate their fair values. 

 31.12.2012 31.12.2011
 CarrYinG  CarrYinG   
 amoUnt  Fair valUe amoUnt  Fair valUe   

financial assets:     

accounts and other receivables  54,807 54,807 59,233 58,686

financial liabilities:     

borrowings  104,096 106,163 131,069 133,809

the fair values of financial instruments are determined in accordance with generally 

accepted pricing models based on discounted cash flow analysis.
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33. acquisitions

in 2012 the Company finalized two minor acquisitions. the main purpose of the 

acquisitions was to secure manufacturing knowledge both in prosthetics and bracing and 

supports. the transactions are accounted for by the purchase method of accounting. 

        

net assets acquired:

Operating fixed assets 674

intangible assets 126

Current assets 1,109

bank balances and cash 49

Current liabilities (      489 )

     1,469

noncontrolling interest (      212 )

goodwill 10,235

total consideration     11,492

  

net cash outflow arising on acquisition:  

Cash consideration 11,492

bank balances and cash acquired (        49 )

                                                                                                                                     11,443 

the figures above are based on a preliminary opening balance sheet prepared for 

purchase accounting purposes and are therefore subject to change in 2013. the 

acquired companies contributed 3.6 million of revenue for the period between the date 

of acquisition and the balance sheet date.     

 

34. operating lease arrangements

payments recognised as an expense:

 2012 2011

minimum lease payments   11,700  10,933

non-cancellable operating lease commitments

 31.12.2012 31.12.2011

no longer than 1 year 11,308  11,476 

longer than 1 year and no longer than 5 years 34,541  33,038 

longer than 5 years 2,286  2,430  

 48,135  46,944 

Operating lease payments represent rentals payable by the Company for certain of its 

office properties and cars.  forty one rental agreements are in place in multiple countries.  

the leases expire in the periods 2013-2019.      

     

35. litigation

össur has filed a civil action in the us against a competitor in the prosthetic market and 

alleges that it infringes certain patents of the Company. the competitor has denied the 

allegations and claims the patents are invalid. the likely outcome remains uncertain.

36. insurance

 31.12.2012   31.12.2011  
 inSUranCe Book inSUranCe Book
 valUe valUe valUe valUe

fixed assets and inventories 213,000  97,131  191,000 93,010 

the Company has purchased a business interruption insurance intended to compensate 

for temporary breakdown of operations. the insurance amount is 413 million (2011: 430 

million). in addition the Company has a product and professional liability insurance with 

a usd 30 million limit and a product recall insurance with a usd 2 million limit. the 

deductible amount on the product and professional liability and product recall insurances 

is usd 50 thousand.       

   

37. approval of the consolidated financial statements

the Consolidated financial statements were approved by the board of directors and 

authorized for issue on 6 february 2013.       
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a unaudited information

the following information are not audited as they relate to quarterly information and the Company only requires an audit for the full year.

a1 quarterly statements

 q4 q3 q2 q1 total
 2012 2012 2012 2012 2012

net sales       98,395      98,517  102,708     99,817     399,437

Cost of goods sold   (   38,068 ) (   36,830 ) (  38,804 ) (  37,783 ) ( 151,485 )

Gross profit       60,327      61,687   63,904      62,034   247,952 

gross profit margin              61%  63%  62%  62%  62%

Other income   275             42   (       106 )  (       109 )  102 

sales and marketing expenses   (   31,254 )  (  29,353 )  (  30,186 )  (  30,131 )  ( 120,924 )

research and development expenses   (     5,897 )  (    5,531 )  (    5,427 )  (    5,276 )  (   22,131 )

general and administrative expenses   (   12,683 )  (  11,818 )  (  11,855 )  (  11,867 )  (   48,223 )

Profit from operations       10,768   15,027   16,330   14,651   56,776  

net financial income /expenses   (     1,232 )  (    1,719 )  (    1,761 )  (    1,923 )  (     6,635 )

net exchange rate difference            747   206   (    1,228 )  556   281 

total financial income/(expenses)   (        485 )  (    1,513 )  (    2,989 )  (    1,367 )  (     6,354 )

share in net profit in associated companies            274   131   (         18 )  69   456 

Profit before tax   10,557   13,645   13,323   13,353   50,878 

income tax (     2,486 )  (    3,758 )  (    3,320 )  (    3,551 )  (   13,115 )

net profit     8,071   9,887   10,003         9,802   37,763  

          

Ebitda   14,384   18,242       19,493      17,837   69,956  

Ebitda ratio   15%  19%          19%            18%  18% 
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the össur annual report has been prepared in-house by össur employees. all photos in the report are existing marketing material.  

the only external cost occurred is for proofreading and printing.

forward-looKing statements

this annual report contains projections and other forward-looking statements regarding future events and/or the future financial 

performance of össur hf. you can identify forward-looking statements by terms, such as “expect,” “believe,” “anticipate,” “estimate,” 

“intend,” “will,” “could,” “may” or “might” or the negative of such terms or other similar expressions. we wish to caution you that these 

statements are only predictions, and that actual events or results may differ materially. we do not intend to update these statements to 

reflect events and circumstances occurring after the date hereof or to reflect the occurrence of unanticipated events. many factors could 

cause the actual results to differ materially from those contained in our projections or forward-looking statements, including, among 

others, general economic conditions, our competitive environment, rapid technological and market change in our industries, as well as 

many other risks specifically related to össur hf. and its operations.
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